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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISION

In re: ) Case No. 10-50494
)

FAIR FINANCE COMPANY ) Chapter 7
)

Debtor. ) Chief Judge Pat E. Morgenstern-Clarren
)

Status Report

This report addresses the status of certain open cases related to the Fair Finance matter, in 
anticipation of the pretrial and status conferences this Court set by orders issued on May 21, 
2014 in the various adversary proceedings.  

Procedural and Administrative Background

To minimize the burdens of discovery on parties, witnesses, and the Court, many Fair Finance 
adversary proceedings with similar circumstances or common factual issues have been aligned 
into one of two groups, which have been referred to as “Group A” and “Group B” cases.  This 
procedure provided consolidated discovery, minimized the number of times that key witnesses 
would need to be deposed, and allowed for consistent rulings on common issues.

The “Group A” cases all included a claim to avoid and recover actual fraudulent conveyances 
from Fair Finance. The three identified common issues in those cases were (1) when Fair 
Finance became insolvent, (2) whether the fraud scheme at Fair Finance entitled the Trustee to 
the “Ponzi Scheme Presumption” that transfers made by Fair Finance were made with actual 
intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors, and (3) whether the Trustee was entitled to a 10-year 
look-back period on fraudulent conveyance claims.  

Originally, the Trustee moved to consolidate the “Group A” proceedings to: (1) prevent 
duplicative discovery, and (2) avoid inconsistent rulings on the common issues.  Eventually, 
procedural developments made it possible to accomplish these goals without formal 
consolidation under Civil Rule 42.  First, the bankruptcy reference was withdrawn for the 
“Group A” cases.  Second, the “Group A” cases were all assigned to District Judge Patricia 
Gaughan.  And finally, all of these matters were referred by Judge Gaughan to Bankruptcy Judge 
Shea-Stonum for pretrial supervision and for the issuance of reports and recommendations on 
dispositive motions filed in these matters.   This procedural posture enabled the parties to litigate 
without the possibility of inconsistent rulings, and it also allowed for the coordination of 
discovery without formal consolidation.  For reference, the Stipulated Fact Witness Deposition 
Protocol entered in the Fortress case, and the Case Management Orders entered in the other 
Group A cases, are attached as Exhibit A. 
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The “Group A” cases that are not settled are the Fortress, Head, Osler and Kaffen lawsuits. As 
will be discussed below, the Snow case settlement is pending the signature of Mr. Snow, who is 
incarcerated in Pekin, Illinois.  

The Trustee respectfully submits that the important interests identified above would be best 
served by referral of the remaining “Group A” cases to a single bankruptcy judge for pretrial 
supervision.  Judge Gaughan has already referred the Fortress case to Judge Harris, and as the 
Court will see below, the only remaining active “Group A” cases are Head, Osler, and Kaffen.1  

The “Group B” cases primarily consisted of breach of note and avoidance action claims. Since 
many of these cases sought to recover transfers from non-debtors or from subsequent transferees, 
a common issue in these cases was the solvency of certain companies related to Fair Finance and 
Timothy Durham. Discovery involving the Trustee’s insolvency expert was coordinated across 
the Group B cases. For reference, Judge Shea-Stonum’s Order re: Motion for an Omnibus 
Telephonic Status Conference in the “Group B” Adversary Proceedings and the matrix of claims 
filed in response to that order is attached as Exhibit B.

Status of “Group A” Active Cases  

1. Bash v. Textron Financial Corp. (the “Fortress” case) (Case No. No. 12-5101). 2   Due to 
its scope, this case has been treated as the lead case in the “Group A” proceedings.  It is 
pending before Judge Harris, discovery is complete, and cross-motions for summary 
judgment are pending. 

2. Bash v. Head (Case No. 12-5097). This matter is addressed in the joint report of counsel 
for the Trustee and counsel for Mr. Head, filed on June 3, 2014 in the Head adversary 
proceeding.  

3. Bash v. Kaffen (Case No. 12-5149).  This case is scheduled for a status conference on 
June 26, 2014. 

4. Bash v. Osler (Case No. 12-5158).  A status conference relating to the last remaining 
defendant, Elizabeth McClure, is scheduled for June 26, 2014. 

Status of “Group A” Cases With Ongoing Settlement Negotiations or Obligations 

1. Bash v. Snow (Case No. 12-5096).  The Trustee is awaiting Mr. Snow’s signature on the 
settlement agreement. Mr. Snow is currently in federal prison in Pekin, Illinois.

                                               
1 The settlement agreement in the Snow case is awaiting the signature of Mr. Snow, who is incarcerated in Illinois.  
Further, the Osler case is distinct from the other Group A cases because the actual fraudulent conveyance claims in 
that case were resolved by the default judgment entered by the District Court on May 2, 2013, against Dana Osler 
and Geist Sports Academy, LLC as a sanction for discovery misconduct.  
2 All case citations herein refer to the bankruptcy court docket rather than any district court docket.
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Status of “Group B” Active Cases

1. Bash v. Dalinger Designs, Inc., (Case No. 12-5111).  This case is scheduled for a pretrial 
hearing on July 9, 2014.

2. Bash v. Najem (Case No. 12-5061).  Mr. Najem has paid the Trustee $10,000 of the 
$20,000 due under his settlement agreement with the Trustee.  The Trustee has demanded 
final payment by no later than June 13.  If Mr. Najem fails to pay, the Trustee will take 
appropriate action. 

3. Bash v. Courtney Durham (Case No. 12-5105).  The parties have reached a settlement in 
principle, and the Trustee delivered a final settlement agreement to counsel for Ms. 
Durham on March 25, 2014.  The Trustee has not received a signature or comments.  The 
Trustee hopes to receive a signed agreement prior to the status conference on June 26, 
2014.

4. Bash v. Mitza Durham (Case No. 12-5032).  The parties have agreed on most material 
settlement terms.  The Trustee expects to settle the matter before the status conference on 
June 26, 2014.

Status of “Group B” Cases Involving a Bankruptcy Filing By A Defendant

1. Bash v. Alternate Billing Corporation (Case No. 12-05020). Alternate Billing 
Corporation filed a Chapter 7 petition on December 30, 2013. The Trustee will file a 
motion seeking a judgment entry substantially identical to the one Judge Gaughan entered 
in the Bash v. Lucas case after Mr. Lucas filed for bankruptcy. The judgment entry in the 
Lucas case, which is attached as Exhibit C, perpetually stays proceedings and closes the 
case, subject to reopening upon a proper motion.  

2. Bash v. Etelco Services, Inc. (Case No. 11-5233).  The Trustee’s treatment of Etelco 
Services is intertwined with settlement negotiations with Cindy Landeen, who guaranteed 
Etelco’s debt.  A status conference has been set for June 26, 2014.   

3. Bash v. Landeen (Case No. 12-5026). The Trustee is in settlement negotiations with Ms. 
Landeen, who has indicated that she will file bankruptcy if a settlement cannot be 
reached, and with the Chapter 7 Trustee for Alternate Billing Corporation, of which Ms. 
Landeen was an officer.  

Status of “Group B” Cases The Trustee Intends to Voluntarily Dismiss 

1. Bash v. DW Trailer, LLC (Case No. 12-5147).  The Trustee’s claims against Terry 
Whitesell in this case were compromised pursuant to a motion filed by the Trustee on 
August 3, 2012, and subsequently granted by the court. The motion and order are 
attached as Exhibit D. The Trustee has determined that pursuing the remaining 
defendant, DW Trailer, LLC, is not in the best interests of the estate at this time and he 
will, therefore, file a notice of voluntary dismissal.  DW Trailer neither answered nor 
moved to dismiss the Complaint.
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2. Bash v. Obsidian Capital Co., LLC (Case No. 12-5090) and Durham Whitesell & Assocs., 
LLC (Case No. 11-5240).  The remaining defendants in these matters are Timothy 
Durham, Obsidian Capital Company, and Durham Whitesell & Associates. The Trustee 
has already obtained over $100 million in judgments against Mr. Durham.  Obsidian 
Capital Company had limited operations and primarily held stock in the now-defunct 
Obsidian Enterprises, Inc.  And the Trustee’s investigation of Durham Whitesell & 
Associates has revealed very limited potential assets to recover.  Therefore, the Trustee 
has determined that pursuing these defendants further is not in the best interests of the 
estate at this time, and he will file a notice of voluntary dismissal as to all three 
defendants.  

Status of Other Cases

1. Bash v. Laikin (Case No. 10-5043).  On October 24, 2013, Judge Shea-Stonum issued a 
Report and Recommendation After Trial recommending that judgment be entered in 
favor of the Trustee, and against Daniel Laikin, in the amount of $32,958,018 plus 
interest at 10.5% and attorney’s fees related to a certain Sanctions Order.  The Report and 
Recommendation After Trial is attached as Exhibit E. The parties are awaiting a decision 
on Laikin’s objections to the Report and Recommendation, which have been fully briefed 
before the District Court.

2. Bash v. National Lampoon.  This case is pending as number 11-cv-4999-DSF-AGR in the 
United States District Court for the Central District of California. On May 19, 2014, the 
Trustee and National Lampoon filed a Joint Notice of Pending Settlement and Motion to 
Stay Proceedings.  The case has been stayed while the parties finalize and document their 
settlement agreement.

3. National Lampoon v. Durham.  This case is pending as number 13-cv-1094 in the United 
States District Court for the Southern District of Indiana.  The Trustee intervened in this 
lawsuit.  A pretrial was held on June 3, 2014, and the Court tolled the motion for 
summary judgment deadlines in light of pending settlement discussions.  The parties are 
to file a status report by July 1.

4. Bash v. Vitesse (Case No. 13-5068). The Trustee will file a motion for a default judgment 
in advance of the status conference on June 26, 2014.

5. Bash v. Sallee (Case No. 14-5019). This matter will be addressed in the joint pretrial 
statement which will be filed by June 16, 2014.  The Trustee is awaiting the receipt of 
certain documents in evaluating a potential settlement, and a pretrial conference has been 
set for June 19, 2014.  
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6. Bash v. Frantz (Case No. 12-5151) and Bash v. Alig (Case No. 12-5141). Shannon Frantz 
filed a Chapter 7 petition on May 30, 2012. Cornelius Alig filed a Chapter 7 petition on 
April 29, 2012.  As with the case against Alternate Billing Corporation, the Trustee will 
file a motion seeking a judgment entry substantially identical to the one Judge Gaughan 
entered in the Bash v. Lucas case.  

Date: June 4, 2014

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Brian A. Bash

Brian A. Bash, Trustee (0000134)
Baker & Hostetler LLP
PNC Center
1900 East 9th Street, Suite 3200
Cleveland, OH  44114-3482
Telephone: 216.621.0200
Facsimile: 216.696.0740
Email: bashtrustee@bakerlaw.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

A copy of the foregoing has been served via ECF or regular, U.S. Mail, on June 4, 2014, 

on the attached service list.

/s/  Brian A. Bash

Chapter 7 Trustee
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SERVICE LIST

Electronic Mail Notice List

The following is the list of parties who are currently on the list to receive e-mail notice/service for this case. 

 Richard M Bain bain@buckleyking.com, krupa@buckleyking.com 
 Stephen M Bales sbales@zieglermetzger.com, dmalloy@zieglermetzger.com 
 Brian A Bash bashtrustee@bakerlaw.com, bbash@ecf.epiqsystems.com 
 Brian A Bash BBash@bakerlaw.com 
 John E. Bator jbator@batorlaw.com, sbator@batorlaw.com 
 Kathryn A. Belfance kb@rlbllp.com 
 John B. Blanton jblanton@bakerlaw.com 
 Kelly Burgan kburgan@bakerlaw.com 
 Patrick W. Carothers pcarothers@thorpreed.com, 

dtomko@thorpreed.com;ghauswirth@thorpreed.com;rhotaling@thorpreed.com;jshannon@thorpreed.com 
 Anthony J. Cespedes ajc1253@yahoo.com 
 Michael L. Cioffi cioffi@blankrome.com 
 LeGrand L Clark legrand.clark@atg.in.gov, stephanie.patrick@atg.in.gov 
 Deborah A. Coleman dacoleman@hahnlaw.com, 

hlpcr@hahnlaw.com;mcsoulsby@hahnlaw.com;cmbeitel@hahnlaw.com 
 Anthony J DeGirolamo ajdlaw@sbcglobal.net 
 Daniel A DeMarco dademarco@hahnlaw.com, hlpcr@hahnlaw.com;cmbeitel@hahnlaw.com 
 Rocco I. Debitetto ridebitetto@hahnlaw.com, hlpcr@hahnlaw.com 
 Duriya Dhinojwala dhinojwala@ccj.com, duriya1@hotmail.com 
 Michelle L. DiBartolo mdibartolo@ttmlaw.com, mldibartolo@gmail.com 
 James M. Dickerson jdickerson@bgdlegal.com, bmartin@bgdlegal.com;mthompson@bgdlegal.com 
 Breaden M Douthett bdouthett@bakerlaw.com, krossiter@bakerlaw.com;fairfinancedocket@bakerlaw.com 
 J Douglas Drushal ddrushal@ccj.com 
 Charles R. Dyas charles.dyas@btlaw.com 
 Joseph Esmont jesmont@bakerlaw.com, joe.esmont@gmail.com;fairfinancedocket@bakerlaw.com 
 Gregory R Farkas gfarkas@frantzward.com, dlbeatrice@frantzward.com 
 Adam Lee Fletcher afletcher@bakerlaw.com 
 Dov Frankel dfrankel@taftlaw.com, dwhite@taftlaw.com;docket@taftlaw.com 
 Leon Friedberg lfriedberg@cpmlaw.com, knocera@cpmlaw.com;squinn@cpmlaw.com 
 Ronald P. Friedberg rfriedberg@meyersroman.com, vvardon@meyersroman.com 
 Marc P Gertz mpgertz@goldman-rosen.com, kls@goldman-rosen.com;kstone_56@hotmail.com 
 Harry W Greenfield bankpleadings@bucklaw.com, 

young@buckleyking.com;toole@buckleyking.com;heberlein@buckleyking.com 
 John J Guy johnguy@neo.rr.com 
 H Ritchey Hollenbaugh hrh@cpmlaw.com, knocera@cpmlaw.com;slq@cpmlaw.com 
 Joseph F. Hutchinson jhutchinson@bakerlaw.com,

smaxwell@bakerlaw.com;fairfinancedocket@bakerlaw.com 
 Steven G Janik steven.janik@janiklaw.com 
 Cynthia A Jeffrey ecfndoh@reimerlaw.com, RACJ.ecfndoh@yahoo.com 
 Kenneth C Johnson kjohnson@bricker.com, rdelsignore@bricker.com 
 Nathaniel R. Jones jones-n@blankrome.com 
 Patrick J Keating pkeating@bdblaw.com 
 Scott J. Kelly skelly@hahnlaw.com 
 Suzana Krstevski Koch skoch@brouse.com, tpalcic@brouse.com;rhaupt@brouse.com 
 John F Kostelnik jkostelnik@frantzward.com, dlbeatrice@frantzward.com 
 David R. Krebs dkrebs@hklawfirm.com, dadams@hklawfirm.com 
 Stuart A. Laven slaven@beneschlaw.com, 

docket@beneschlaw.com;mkrawczyk@beneschlaw.com;lbehra@beneschlaw.com 
 James Michael Lawniczak jlawniczak@calfee.com 
 Trish D. Lazich trish.lazich@ohioattorneygeneral.gov, angelique.seals@ohioattorneygeneral.gov 
 Scott B. Lepene scott.lepene@thompsonhine.com, 

docket@thompsonhine.com,betty.ribic@thompsonhine.com,marcia.burston@thompsonhine.com 
 Jeffrey M Levinson jml@jml-legal.com 
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 David A Looney attorney@bright.net, davelooney1@gmail.com 
 Thomas R Lucchesi tlucchesi@bakerlaw.com 
 Crystal L. Maluchnik crystal.maluchnik@janiklaw.com 
 Grant A Mason gamason@millermast.com 
 Matthew H Matheney mmatheney@tddlaw.com, showard@tddlaw.com 
 Shorain L. McGhee shorain.mcghee@sbcglobal.net 
 Warner Mendenhall warnermendenhall@hotmail.com, bcyecfnotify@rushpost.com 
 Tarek E. Mercho tmercho@mercholegal.com 
 David P. Meyer dmeyer@dmlaws.com, docket@dmlaws.com 
 David Polan Meyer dmeyer@dmlaws.com 
 Michael J Moran moranecf@yahoo.com, moranecf@gmail.com 
 David A Mucklow davidamucklow@yahoo.com 
 Steven J. Mulligan stevenmulligan@cox.net 
 Maritza S. Nelson mnelson@bakerlaw.com 
 Josephine S. Noble josephine.noble@ogletreedeakins.com, jennifer.mcguigan@ogletreedeakins.com 
 Alexis Courtney Osburn aosburn@bakerlaw.com, fairfinancedocket@bakerlaw.com 
 F. Anthony Paganelli tpaganelli@taftlaw.com 
 Mark A Phillips mphillips@beneschlaw.com,

docket@beneschlaw.com;lbehra@beneschlaw.com;cgreen@beneschlaw.com 
 Kenneth G. Prabucki kprabucki@bakerlaw.com 
 Clinton E. Preslan ndohbky@jbandr.com 
 David F. Proano dproano@bakerlaw.com, fairfinancedocket@bakerlaw.com 
 Stephen J Pruneski spruneski@rlbllp.com 
 Timothy J Richards trichards@frantzward.com, dlbeatrice@frantzward.com 
 Mark Riemer mriemer@goldman-rosen.com, andreag@goldman-rosen.com 
 Tim Robinson tim.robinson@dinsmore.com, lisa.geeding@dinsmore.com 
 James E Rossow jim@rubin-levin.net, susan@rubin-levin.net 
 Matthew J. Samsa msamsa@mcdonaldhopkins.com, docket@beneschlaw.com;cgreen@beneschlaw.com 
 Rafael A Sanchez rsanchez@bgdlegal.com, lcase@bgdlegal.com 
 Richard V. Singleton rsingleton@blankrome.com, kreda@blankrome.com;jhanner@blankrome.com 
 Dale S Smith dsmith@frantzward.com, dlbeatrice@frantzward.com 
 Michael A. Steel masteel@goldman-rosen.com, andreag@goldman-rosen.com;bstewart@goldman-

rosen.com 
 Rachel L. Steinlage rsteinlage@meyersroman.com, jray@meyersroman.com 
 Ray H Stoess raystoess@600westmain.com 
 Megan D. Stricker mnovinc@davisyoung.com, gcampbell@davisyoung.com 
 Timothy M. Sullivan tim@tmslaw.net, alison@tmslaw.net;elaine@tmslaw.net;martin@tmslaw.net 
 Jonathan D. Sundheimer jsundheimer@btlaw.com 
 Gregory D Swope gswope@kwgd.com, mhelmick@kwgd.com 
 David J. Theising dtheising@harrisonmoberly.com 
 Ronald N Towne rtowne@neolaw.biz, awehener@neolaw.biz 
 Vance P Truman medinaatty@yahoo.com, medinaatty@gmail.com 
 United States Trustee (Registered address)@usdoj.gov 
 Michael S Tucker mtucker@ulmer.com 
 Nancy A Valentine navalentine@hahnlaw.com, hlpcr@hahnlaw.com;cmbeitel@hahnlaw.com 
 Michael A. VanNiel mvanniel@bakerlaw.com 
 Thomas C Wagner wagnert@tcwlawyers.com, wagnert@vwlawyers.com 
 Wayne County Litigants ddrushal@ccj.com 
 Nicholas L. White nwhite@bakerlaw.com, fairfinancedocket@bakerlaw.com 
 Alicia Raina Whiting-Bozich whiting-bozich@buckleyking.com, heberlein@buckleyking.com 
 Robert M Whittington robertwhittington0@gmail.com 
 David E. Wright dwright@kgrlaw.com, mem@kgrlaw.com 
 Lenore Kleinman ust04 Lenore.Kleinman@usdoj.gov 
 Maria D. Giannirakis ust06 maria.d.giannirakis@usdoj.gov
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Manual Notice List

The following is the list of parties who are not on the list to receive e-mail notice/service for this case (who therefore 
require manual noticing/service). 

Emily S. Donahue
Jackson Walker L.L.P.
901 Main Street, Suite 6000
Dallas, TX  75202

Eric W. Sleeper
Barton Barton & Plotkin LLP
420 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY  10170

Christine A. Arnold
6005 Twin Lakes Drive
Parma, OH  44219

Gary Sallee
11650 Olio Road, Suite 1000-333
Fishers, IN  46037

Charles R. Dyas, Jr.
Barnes & Thornburg LLP
41 S. High Street
Suite 3300
Columbus, OH 43215-6104

Robert Hanlon
Eileen Hanlon
P.O. Box 42
State Route 43
Mogadore, OH  44260

Leon Friedberg
Dennis J. Concilla
Carl A. Aveni
H. Ritchey Hollenbaugh
Carlile Patchen & Murphy LLP
366 Broad Street
Columbus, OH  43215

John McCauley, Esq. 
J. Richard Kiefer, Esq.
Bingham McHale LLP
2700 Market Tower
10 West Market Street
Indianapolis, IN  46204

Robert Boote
Ballard Shahr LLP
919 North Market Street, 12th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801-3034

Tobey Daluz
Ballard Spahr LLP
919 North Market Street, 12th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801-3034

Leslie C Heilman
Ballard Spahr LLP
919 North Market Street, 12th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801-3034

Jay Jaffe
Faegre Baker Daniels LLP
600 E. 96th Street, Suite 600
Indianapolis, IN  46240

Lenore Kleinman
Office of the United States Trustee

Howard M. Metzenbaum U.S. Courthouse

201 Superior Avenue East, Suite 441

Cleveland, Ohio 44114

Michael V. Demczyk
12370 Cleveland Avenue, NW
P.O. Box 867
Uniontown, OH  44685

Lothar Jung
12962 W. Linden Avenue
Parma, OH  44130-5817

Charles Boerner
1848 Ritchie Road
Stow, OH  44224

John J. Kuster
Benjamin R. Nagin
Sidley Austin LLP
787 Seventh Avenue
New York, NY  10019

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 9 of 177



EXHIBIT A

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 10 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00980-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  1 of 5.  PageID #: 971Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  1 of 25.  PageID #: 7489

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 11 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00980-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  2 of 5.  PageID #: 972Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  2 of 25.  PageID #: 7490

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 12 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00980-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  3 of 5.  PageID #: 973Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  3 of 25.  PageID #: 7491

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 13 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00980-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  4 of 5.  PageID #: 974Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  4 of 25.  PageID #: 7492

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 14 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00980-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  5 of 5.  PageID #: 975Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  5 of 25.  PageID #: 7493

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 15 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00981-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  1 of 5.  PageID #: 716Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  6 of 25.  PageID #: 7494

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 16 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00981-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  2 of 5.  PageID #: 717Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  7 of 25.  PageID #: 7495

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 17 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00981-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  3 of 5.  PageID #: 718Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  8 of 25.  PageID #: 7496

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 18 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00981-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  4 of 5.  PageID #: 719Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  9 of 25.  PageID #: 7497

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 19 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00981-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  5 of 5.  PageID #: 720Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  10 of 25.  PageID #: 7498

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 20 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00997-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  1 of 5.  PageID #: 536Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  11 of 25.  PageID #: 7499

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 21 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00997-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  2 of 5.  PageID #: 537Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  12 of 25.  PageID #: 7500

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 22 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00997-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  3 of 5.  PageID #: 538Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  13 of 25.  PageID #: 7501

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 23 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00997-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  4 of 5.  PageID #: 539Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  14 of 25.  PageID #: 7502

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 24 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00997-PAG  Doc #: 18  Filed:  08/23/12  5 of 5.  PageID #: 540Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  15 of 25.  PageID #: 7503

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 25 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00994-PAG  Doc #: 21  Filed:  08/23/12  1 of 5.  PageID #: 667Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  16 of 25.  PageID #: 7504

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 26 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00994-PAG  Doc #: 21  Filed:  08/23/12  2 of 5.  PageID #: 668Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  17 of 25.  PageID #: 7505

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 27 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00994-PAG  Doc #: 21  Filed:  08/23/12  3 of 5.  PageID #: 669Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  18 of 25.  PageID #: 7506

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 28 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00994-PAG  Doc #: 21  Filed:  08/23/12  4 of 5.  PageID #: 670Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  19 of 25.  PageID #: 7507

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 29 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00994-PAG  Doc #: 21  Filed:  08/23/12  5 of 5.  PageID #: 671Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  20 of 25.  PageID #: 7508

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 30 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00996-PAG  Doc #: 23  Filed:  08/23/12  1 of 5.  PageID #: 582Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  21 of 25.  PageID #: 7509

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 31 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00996-PAG  Doc #: 23  Filed:  08/23/12  2 of 5.  PageID #: 583Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  22 of 25.  PageID #: 7510

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 32 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00996-PAG  Doc #: 23  Filed:  08/23/12  3 of 5.  PageID #: 584Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  23 of 25.  PageID #: 7511

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 33 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00996-PAG  Doc #: 23  Filed:  08/23/12  4 of 5.  PageID #: 585Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  24 of 25.  PageID #: 7512

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 34 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00996-PAG  Doc #: 23  Filed:  08/23/12  5 of 5.  PageID #: 586Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 132-2  Filed:  12/14/12  25 of 25.  PageID #: 7513

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 35 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 137  Filed:  01/25/13  1 of 4.  PageID #: 8013

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 36 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 137  Filed:  01/25/13  2 of 4.  PageID #: 8014

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 37 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 137  Filed:  01/25/13  3 of 4.  PageID #: 8015

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 38 of 177



Case: 5:12-cv-00987-PAG  Doc #: 137  Filed:  01/25/13  4 of 4.  PageID #: 8016

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 39 of 177



EXHIBIT B

10-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 40 of 177



Dated:  11:58 AM August 31 2012

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

AKRON DIVISION 

 
In re: 
 
FAIR FINANCE COMPANY,  
  
  Debtor. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
Chapter 7 
 
Case No. 10-50494 (mss)  
 
Judge Marilyn Shea-Stonum 
 

TRUSTEE’S MATRIX OF PENDING “GROUP B” ADVERSARY PROCEEDINGS AND 
NOTICE OF CONFERENCE CALL INFORMATION FOR OMNIBUS PRETRIAL 

CONFERENCE ON SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 AT 10:30 A.M. 

Brian A. Bash, the Chapter 7 Trustee for Fair Finance Company (the “Trustee” for the 

“Debtor”), respectfully files the below matrix of the pending Group B adversary proceedings in 

accordance with this Court’s Order dated August 31, 2012 (Dkt. 1075) (the “Order”).  As 

required by the Order, the matrix sorts the pending Group B adversary proceedings into one of 

four categories depending on the status of settlement negotiations between the Trustee and the 

defendant(s) in each adversary proceeding. 

In addition, the Trustee hereby provides the following dial-in information to the 

defendants in the matrix for the omnibus status conference of September 25, 2012, at 10:30 

a.m. in the Bankruptcy Courtroom 260, 2nd Floor, 2 South Main Street, Akron, Ohio: 

Conference Call Dial In:  888-853-9376 

Passcode: 216-861-7834 

Finally, in accordance with the Order, a copy of this filing is being served on counsel for 

all of the defendants in the pending “Group B” adversary proceedings listed in the below matrix. 
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CATEGORY 1:  GROUP B CASES WITH ONGOING SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS 

# Case Name Bankruptcy Case No. 
(District Case No.) 

Solvency 
Relevant?  If yes, 
which entity or 

entities. 

1 Bash v. Car Collector Magazine, LLC, et 
al. 

12-5017 (12-01155) No. 

2 Bash v. Table Moose Media, LLC 12-5035 Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 

Diamond 
Investments, LLC 

3 Bash v. Mercho, Wells & Masterson, Inc. 
and Hassan Mercho 

12-5059 Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

4 Bash v. Bennett Productions, Inc. 12-5069 (12-00982) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC 

5 Bash v. Dalinger Designs, Inc. 12-5111 Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

6 Bash v. Phillip Press, Inc. 12-5113 Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC 

7 Bash v. Melissa McDowell 12-5142 Yes – Timothy 
Durham 

8 Bash v. Shannon Connor Design, Inc. 12-5144 (12-01156) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

9 Bash v. Edward Morris 12-5163 Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC 
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CATEGORY 2:  GROUP B CASES IN WHICH SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS ARE 

ANTICIPATED BUT HAVE NOT COMMENCED 

# Case Name Bankruptcy Case No. 
(District Case No.) 

Solvency 
Relevant?  If yes, 
which entity or 

entities. 

1 Bash v. Etelco Services, Inc., et al. 11-5233 (12-00984) No. 

2 Bash v. Alternate Billing Corp. 12-5020 (12-00999) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 

Diamond 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

3 Bash v. Cindy Landeen 12-5026 (12-01152)  Yes – Diamond 
Investments, LLC 

4 Bash v. Erika Lookadoo Jiles 12-5029 (12-01671) Yes – Timothy 
Durham 

5 Bash v. Neil Lucas 12-5046 (12-00998) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 

Diamond 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

6 Bash v. Stephen Blaising 12-5057 (12-00977) Yes – Timothy 
Durham 

7 Bash v. Henri Najem; Najem 
Management, Inc.; and Najem 
Enterprises, Inc. 

12-5061 (12-02222) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

8 Bash v. Joseph Hennigin 12-5078 (12-00979) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC 

9 Bash v. Bernard Durham aka B.J. 
Durham 

12-5104 (12-01153) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 

Diamond 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 
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10 Bash v. Joan SerVaas 12-5106 (12-01154) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

11 Bash v. Bruce Long 12-5110 (12-00986) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC 

12 Bash v. Plopper and Partners, LLC 12-5156 No. 

13 Bash v. 77th Street Partners, et al. 12-5212 Yes – Timothy 
Durham 

CATEGORY 3:  GROUP B CASES IN WHICH SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS HAVE 
BEEN CONCLUDED 

# Case Name Bankruptcy Case No. 
(District Case No.) 

Solvency 
Relevant?  If yes, 
which entity or 

entities. 

1 Bash v. Michael Reardon (settled subject 
to documentation and approval) 

12-5143 Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC 

2 Bash v. Balint and Associates, et al. 
(Preference Claim:  discussions 
concluded without settlement – 
summary judgment motions pending)  

12-5049 No. 

CATEGORY 4:  GROUP B CASES IN WHICH ONE OR MORE OF THE PARTIES 
DOES NOT WANT TO ENGAGE IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS  

# Case Name Bankruptcy Case No. 
(District Case No.) 

Solvency 
Relevant?  If yes, 
which entity or 

entities. 

1 Bash v. Mitza Durham  12-5032 (12-01672) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 

2 Bash v. Courtney Durham 12-5105 (12-01673) Yes – DC 
Investments, LLC; 
Timothy Durham 
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The Court’s Order also requested input from the Trustee’s counsel on the ways the Court 

could facilitate settlement discussions in the Group B cases in Category 1 (discussions ongoing) 

and Category 2 (discussions anticipated).  After consideration, the Trustee’s counsel believes that 

the Court can encourage settlement discussions between the parties and possible resolution of the 

Trustee’s claims by (a) proceeding with setting individual pre-trial conferences in each of the 

pending Group B cases and requiring the in-person attendance of the client or client-

representative (in the case of corporate clients) with decision making authority without 

exceptions, and (b) setting trial dates starting with the two cases in Category 4 of the matrix (the 

Mitza Durham and Courtney Durham matters), and continuing with later trial dates for the cases 

in Categories 1 and 2 of the matrix.  The preference claim in Category 3 of the matrix (the Balint 

matter) may be resolved by the pending dispositive motion; though a trial should be scheduled in 

that case as well to the extent any claims are not resolved by motion. 

Date:  September 14, 2012 Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ David F. Proaño 
Kelly S. Burgan (0073649) 
David F. Proaño (0078838) 
Nicholas White (0079956) 
Kenneth G. Prabucki (0086889) 
Baker & Hostetler LLP 
PNC Center 
1900 East Ninth Street, Suite 3200 
Cleveland, Ohio  44114-3482 
Telephone: 216.621.0200 
Facsimile: 216.696.0740 
kburgan@bakerlaw.com 
dproano@bakerlaw.com 
nwhite@bakerlaw.com 
kprabucki@bakerlaw.com 
 
Counsel for the Trustee 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISION

Brian A. Bash, Trustee, ) CASE NO.  5: 12 CV 998
)

Plaintiff, ) JUDGE PATRICIA A. GAUGHAN
)

vs. )
) Judgment Entry Perpetually Staying

Neil Lucas, ) Further Proceedings and Closing the
) Within Case

Defendant. )

The Court has been informed by lead counsel of record that a voluntary petition for relief in

a case under Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) was filed on October 4,

2013 by defendant Neil Lucas, Case No 13-10583-FO-7 in the United States Bankruptcy  Court for

the Southern District of Indiana.  Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362, the filing of a such a case under the

Bankruptcy Code mandates a stay of the within proceedings.

Further proceedings in the within case are hereby perpetually stayed and the within case is

hereby CLOSED, subject to reopening upon written motion of plaintiff or any other proper party

in interest, after the bankruptcy case is closed or dismissed, a discharge in bankruptcy is granted or

1

Case: 5:12-cv-00998-PAG  Doc #: 54  Filed:  10/08/13  1 of 2.  PageID #: 742
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denied, there is a granting of relief from the stay imposed by Section 362, or there is an injunction

imposed by virtue of 11 U.S.C. § 524.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

 /s/ Patricia A. Gaughan                     
PATRICIA A. GAUGHAN
United States District Judge

Dated: 10/8/13

2
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Dated:  02:39 PM August 21 2012

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 
  

IN RE: 
 
Fair Finance Company, 

DEBTOR. 
 
 
Brian A. Bash, Trustee, 

PLAINTIFF, 
 
vs. 
 
Daniel S. Laikin, 

DEFENDANT.  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.   10-50494 
 
CHAPTER   7 
 
JUDGE MARILYN SHEA-STONUM 
 
ADVERSARY NO.   10-5043 
 
 
 
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 
AFTER TRIAL 

 

 This matter comes before the Court on the complaint of Brian Bash, Trustee (“Plaintiff” 

or “Trustee”), primarily alleging breach of a note made by Daniel Laikin (“Defendant” or 

“Laikin”) in favor of DC Investments, LLC (“DCI”), the grandparent company of the Debtor, 

Fair Finance Company (“Fair Finance”), and seeking payment of all amounts due under the note.  

Breaden Douthett, Michael Montgomery and Alexis Osburn appeared at trial as counsel for the 

Plaintiff.  Mark Phillips and Lori Welker appeared at trial as counsel for Defendant.  During the 

trial, the Court received evidence in the form of Stipulations [Adv. Pro. Dkt. # 79],1 exhibits and 

                                                 
1 In light of the Sanctions Order (defined below), certain Stipulations were excluded from the trial record.  Those 

Dated:  01:18 PM October 24 2013

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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2 
 

testimony from Laikin, Howard Klein (“Klein”), Jeffrey Osler (“Osler”), Eileen Hostetler 

(“Hostetler”), Mark Byers, John Weingardt (“Weingardt”), and the Trustee and by designation of 

deposition transcripts, the testimony of Jeffrey Birk, Edward Morris and Edward J. Morris, P.C., 

Gary Sallee (“Sallee”), Timothy S. Durham (“Durham”), Robert Laikin, Joseph Poluka 

(“Poluka”), Laurence S. Shtasel (“Shtasel”), Corazon Victoriano, and Laikin.  At the conclusion 

of closing arguments, the Court took the matter under advisement. 

Jurisdiction 

 This proceeding arises in a case referred to this Court by the Standing Order of Reference 

entered in this District on April 4, 2012.  This Court has jurisdiction to hear this adversary 

proceeding.  28 U.S.C. § 1334(b), Waldman v. Stone, 698 F.3d 910, 916 (6th Cir. 2012).  This is 

not a core proceeding2 although the issues raised in the complaint are related to the Fair Finance 

bankruptcy case.3 Waldman v. Stone, 698 F.3d at 921-22; Lowenbraun v. Canary, 453 F.3d 314, 

320 (6th Cir. 2006).  The parties consented to having this trial conducted by this Court. See 

Consent to a U.S. Bankruptcy Judge Conducting a Jury Trial, Adv. Pro. Dkt # 44 and Order and 

Memorandum of Pre-Trial Conference held on December 7, 2011 (Adv. Pro. Dkt # 83).  

Therefore, the parties waived any objection to this Court’s authority to enter proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157.   

In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 157(c)(1) and based upon the evidence presented at the 

trial, the arguments of counsel, the pleadings in this adversary proceeding and the Fair Finance 

bankruptcy case, the Court is authorized to and makes the following findings of fact and 

                                                                                                                                                             
excluded Stipulations are Nos. 56, 57, 67, 68, 76, 77, 85, 86, 87, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 
104, and 106, and the exhibits related to those Stipulations. 
2 The parties have stated in their pleadings that they believe this is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b).  
However, the Court must make its own determination as to whether a proceeding is a core proceeding. 28 U.S.C. § 
157(b)(3); Waldman v. Stone, 698 F.3d 910.  
3 The Fair Finance bankruptcy case was commenced on February 8, 2010. [See Finding of Fact #76, herein] 
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conclusions of law.4 

Summary 

 A summary of the overall findings and conclusions reached by me as the initial finder of 

fact could be useful to the District Court before setting forth the important minute findings of 

fact.  This adversary proceeding was one of the earliest filed by the Trustee.  It appeared to be 

and, in fact, in many respects proved to be a collection action with respect to a line of credit 

extended to a member of the inner circle of Durham, who spearheaded the Fair Finance Ponzi 

scheme. At the beginning of 2002 Laikin assisted Durham in the acquisition of Fair Finance by 

extending a $1.7 million dollar loan that was part of proceeds paid to Donald Fair, then the 

owner of Fair Finance.  That loan was quickly repaid and in August 2002, the corporate 

grandparent of Fair Finance began lending money to Laikin under a line of credit, evidenced by a 

Note (as defined below) to DCI that was initially capped at $2 million.  That Note, as amended 

over time, provided that amounts shown as owing on the Note on the books and records of DCI 

would be deemed “prima facie to be correct” as to the “principal amount of the Loan outstanding 

from time to time.” 

 Laikin received money under this line of credit in a number of informal ways which were 

contemporaneously recorded on the books of DCI.  Laikin served on a variety of boards of 

directors of companies owned or controlled primarily by Durham, including from mid-2006 

through December 2008 on the Board of Directors of Fair Finance.  He and Durham were also 

allies in controlling the publicly traded company National Lampoon, Inc. (“National Lampoon”) 

and monies accessed under Laikin’s DCI line of credit frequently were forwarded to National 

Lampoon for its ongoing operations. 

                                                 
4 In reaching its findings of fact and whether or not specifically referenced herein, the Court considered the 
demeanor of the witnesses who appeared at trial and credibility of all witnesses. 
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 As of the final maturity date on the Note, August 31, 2008, DCI’s books showed the total 

amount owing on the Note to be $19,497,881.84 including principal and accumulated interest.  

Laikin personally had made no payments to DCI on his line of credit, nor as of the maturity had 

he ever inquired of DCI personnel what amount was shown as owing on the DCI books and 

records.  Even after the final maturity date he continued to request and to receive advances from 

DCI through December 2009, i.e., even after the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s (“FBI”) raid 

on Fair Finance. 

 In July of 2007, while Laikin was serving as an “outside” director on the Fair Finance 

Board of Directors, a number of obligations owing to DCI, totaling more than $18 million, 

including the Note, were transferred to the books of Fair Finance for accounting purposes.  

Although the ownership of those obligations remained with DCI at that time, they were shown as 

assets on the Fair Finance books and records.   It appears that this action was taken in an effort to 

prop up the appearance of Fair Finance’s solvency. 

 Back in August 2002, part of the documentation of the Note included a security 

agreement pursuant to which Laikin and his wife transferred 210,000 shares of Brightpoint, Inc. 

(“Brightpoint”) stock to a preexisting personal securities account owned by Durham, not an 

account owned by the lender, DCI.  Durham already had shares of Brightpoint stock in that 

account.  By sometime in 2006 Durham had sold all the Brightpoint shares.  Laikin initially 

maintained that he owed nothing on Note because he argued that he should be credited with the 

sales of Brightpoint stock.  Of course, he had never acted to cause any of those proceeds to be 

paid to DCI nor had he bothered to confirm that any purported payment was reflected on DCI’s 

books and records; he also did not report capital gains on his tax returns consistent with any such 

sales.  Having entrusted Durham with control of the Brightpoint stock and proceeds, he now 
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would have the courts sort out the accounting, to which he never attended, as to whether any 

proceeds of Brightpoint stock that might have been paid to DCI were improperly booked. 

 Of course, to have such an action undertaken by this Court, Laikin would have to 

cooperate in providing information in the discovery phase of this case.  Instead of such 

cooperation, Laikin withheld critical information concerning individuals who had relevant 

information and could point toward literally volumes of relevant documents.  He also 

conveniently misplaced the laptop computer and cell phone which he used for sending electronic 

mail, his primary means of written communication.   

 Laikin attempted to portray himself as an unwitting victim of Ponzi schemer Durham.  

Responding to that fabrication, the Trustee was able to demonstrate that more than a year prior to 

the filing of this adversary proceeding, Laikin had proffered to the federal prosecutors 

information about the Ponzi scheme that Durham was perpetrating through Fair Finance.  He did 

this after pleading guilty to conspiracy to commit securities fraud, a conspiracy that involved 

Laikin using monies from his DCI line of credit, and in an effort to shorten his own prison 

sentence.  Laikin’s claim that in early 2009 he had only recently become privy to such 

information was shown to be false and just one of many instances that caused this finder of fact 

to view him as without any credibility as a witness.  Ironically even after making this proffer to 

federal prosecutors, Laikin continued to ask for and to receive advances on his overdue line of 

credit.  Meanwhile, there is no evidence that he did anything to protect Fair Finance certificate 

holders, a group to whom he had owed obligations as a Fair Finance director from mid-2006 

through the end of 2008. 
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Findings of Fact5 

A. Pre-Trial Proceedings 

1. Prior to trial, on August 15, 2013 the Court entered an “Order Granting Plaintiff’s 

Motion for Sanctions and Imposing Sanctions Against Defendant” (the “Sanctions 

Order”), which is incorporated by reference as if fully rewritten here.  The Sanctions 

Order was entered as a result of Laikin’s continued violation of his discovery 

obligations under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26 and 37.  This Court found that 

Laikin was completely unforthcoming in his answers to interrogatories and deposition 

questions requesting the names of persons with knowledge of discoverable 

information related to his contention that he no longer had any debt payment 

obligation under the Note.  Specifically, it was determined that Laikin knew or should 

have known that National Lampoon possessed information pertinent to the 

affirmative defenses raised in his answer (including the alleged sale of Brightpoint 

stock) and that Laikin knowingly and unjustifiably failed to identify Cora Victoriano 

as a person with knowledge of and access to such information.  Such failure 

prejudiced Plaintiff by delaying his access to discoverable documents and forcing him 

to incur substantial costs in obtaining a portion of that information.  

2. As a result of Laikin’s serial misconduct with respect to discovery in this adversary 

proceeding, the Court sanctioned Laikin under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26 

and 37 by:  

  1. precluding him from calling Cora Victoriano as a witness in support of his 
defense(s) to the any cause of action raised in the amended complaint; 

 
 2. precluding him from adducing any evidence at trial on any subject noted 

                                                 
5 To the extent that any finding of fact has been mistakenly designated a conclusion of law, and vice versa, such 
finding or conclusion shall have the effect it would have had if properly designated. 
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in any manner in Exhibit 34 to the Motion for Sanctions, which was a letter 
handwritten by Laikin to Cora Victoriano on June 28, 2011 that was inconsistent 
with his discovery responses both before and after the date of that letter;  

 
 3. precluding him from adducing any evidence at trial on any information 

contained in Exhibit A to his response to Interrogatory No. 15 as it relates either 
directly or indirectly to National Lampoon; and 

 
4. making Laikin responsible for reimbursing the Trustee for all fees and 
costs incurred by him and/or his counsel in obtaining documents from National 
Lampoon after the date of the Initial Discovery Response. 

 
3. Consistent with the Sanctions Order, at trial, Laikin was prohibited from adducing 

evidence regarding any alleged repayment of his obligation by virtue of pledged stock 

sales made during 2004-2007.  In addition, Laikin was prohibited from adducing 

evidence regarding National Lampoon as relates to Laikin’s calculation of the amount 

of advances and alleged repayments under his obligation to DCI.6  

B. The Debtor and its parent and grandparent companies 

4. Fair Finance was founded by Arthur Ray Fair in 1934 and was in the business of 

providing sales financing to dealers and merchants.7  Historically, Fair Finance 

purchased customer financing contracts from credit-worthy dealers and serviced 

financing contracts owned by dealers for a fee.  Fair Finance sold investment 

certificates of various dollar denominations to investors who were Ohio residents in 

order to finance its operations.  The rate of interest paid on these investment 

certificates varied over time and based on the term of the certificate.  [See Plaintiff’s 

                                                 
6 On August 29, 2013, Defendant filed a notice of appeal of the Sanctions Order along with a motion seeking leave 
to appeal that interlocutory order.  The Defendant’s motion for leave to appeal was denied on September 23, 2013 
by the District Court. 
7 This Court has entered at least two orders setting forth, in detail, the background of this case:  “Order Granting 
Motion to Strike Jury Demand” [Adv. Pro. Dkt. #147] and the Sanctions Order [Adv. Pro. Dkt. #183].  The 
Background sections of both of those Orders are hereby incorporated by this reference as if fully rewritten herein. 
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Exhibit NNNNN]  On September 9, 2008, the V-6 interest rate was 7.75%. On 

September 29, 2009, the V-6 interest rate was 7.5%. 

5. Fair Finance issued Offering Circulars in connection with the offering of investment 

certificates for sale to investors in Ohio. [Stipulation #14].  Before an Offering 

Circular could be issued publicly by Fair Finance, Fair Finance was required to 

submit the Offering Circular to the Ohio Division of Securities (the “Ohio Division”) 

for review and to obtain the Ohio Division’s approval to issue the document.  

[Stipulation # 15]  Each Offering Circular submitted to the Ohio Division and 

subsequently issued by Fair Finance purported to disclose certain information about 

the business and financial condition of Fair Finance.  [Stipulation #16] 

6. Durham’s purchase of Fair Finance was accomplished in January 2002, when Fair 

Holdings, Inc., a corporation incorporated under the law of the State of Ohio (“Fair 

Holdings or FHI”), purchased all of the outstanding stock of Fair Finance.  

[Stipulation #19] 

7. Durham was Chairman of Fair Holdings.  [Durham Depo. at 17-18] 

8. DCI is a limited liability company organized under the law of the State of Indiana. 

[Stipulation #24] 

9. DCI has been the sole shareholder of Fair Holdings since Fair Holdings became the 

sole shareholder of Fair Finance in January 2002.  [Stipulation #25] 

10. Since the time of DCI’s formation, the members of DCI have at all times been 

Durham and James F. Cochran (“Cochran”).  [Stipulation #26]   Durham was 

appointed the initial Managing Member of DCI under the First Amended Operating 

Agreement of DCI. [Defendant’s Exhibit 1]   
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C. Laikin and his relationships with Durham, the Debtor and related entities 

11. Laikin is an individual currently residing in California.  He is fairly sophisticated in 

business matters.  Laikin testified that he first met Durham in the late 1980s.  Around 

2000, Durham and Laikin began doing business together.  In addition, they became 

friends, traveling together on vacation with and without their families, and speaking 

often. [Laikin Testimony. Victoriano Depo 40:15.-41:1 – stating that Durham and 

Laikin spoke daily]   

12. Laikin and Durham have been involved in several businesses together, including 

Obsidian Enterprises, Inc. (“Obsidian”), Fair Holdings, Fair Finance and National 

Lampoon. 

Obsidian 

13. Obsidian was an Indianapolis, Indiana based company run by Durham. [Osler 

Testimony]  Laikin was an investor in Obsidian. [Laikin Testimony]  From 2001 to 

2010, Laikin was a director of Obsidian. [Interrogatory Response No. 8, Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit W]  During his term as a director, Laikin sat on the audit committee for 

Obsidian.  While Laikin was a director of Obsidian, Obsidian borrowed money from 

Fair Holdings. [Laikin Testimony, Plaintiff’s Exhibit X]  In fact, Obsidian was the 

largest borrower from Fair Holdings. [Osler Testimony]  Without the money from 

these loans, Obsidian would have ceased operations. Id. 

Fair Holdings 

14. Laikin gave his consent to become a director of Fair Holdings in or around July 2006. 

[Plaintiff’s Exhibit T]  As director of Obsidian, he had approved the borrowing of 

money from Fair Holdings by Obsidian.  The loans were non-performing, in that 
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interest was simply accrued, and when credit limits and maturity dates were reached, 

the terms of the loans were simply extended. [Osler Testimony].  The money used to 

fund these loans came from Fair Finance. [Osler Testimony] 

Fair Finance 

15. In addition, to their relationship through Obsidian, Laikin lent $1.7 million to assist 

Durham in raising sufficient capital to purchase Fair Finance in 2002. [Laikin 

Testimony]  Laikin was repaid the $1.7 million fairly quickly. [Laikin 

Testimony/Osler Testimony]  In addition, Laikin was a director of Fair Finance from 

2006 through December 2008. [Stipulation #60, Laikin Testimony, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 

W] 

National Lampoon 

16. In addition, to their relationships with Obsidian, Fair Holdings and Fair Finance, 

Laikin and Durham were both involved with National Lampoon.  Together, they took 

control of National Lampoon.  Laikin was National Lampoon’s CEO and president 

and a director. [Plaintiff’s Exhibit W – Interrogatory 8, Victoriano Depo.]  While he 

was a director of National Lampoon, Laikin covered millions of dollars of operating 

expenses of National Lampoon with money advanced under the line of credit Laikin 

had with DCI (as described more fully below).  [Victoriano Depo. 50:21-54:5 and 

Depo. Exhibit 2; Laikin Testimony, Plaintiff’s Exhibit W – attachment A] 

17. Laikin stepped down as CEO in December 2008 when he was indicted for, among 

other things, engaging in conspiracy to commit securities fraud. [Plaintiff’s Exhibit O 

– a copy of the Indictment against Laikin in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Pennsylvania, Case No. 08-733 (the “Laikin Criminal Case”]  
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Laikin pled guilty to Count One of the two count Indictment.  Count One had alleged 

conspiracy to commit securities fraud to manipulate the stock price of National 

Lampoon. [Plaintiff’s Exhibit Q]  In September 2010, a judgment was entered against 

Laikin in his criminal case showing Laikin pled guilty to Count One. [Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit S]   

18. Thereafter, Durham, who was also a director of National Lampoon, replaced Laikin 

as CEO. 

19.  Laikin remains a majority shareholder of National Lampoon. [Laikin Testimony, 

Victoriano Depo. 28:21-29:23] 

DCI 

20. Laikin was repaid the $1.7 million he lent Durham for the purchase of Fair Finance.  

Shortly thereafter he entered into a note with DCI to provide him access to a line of 

credit from DCI.  The ultimate source of the funds lent by DCI to Laikin was Fair 

Finance. [Osler Testimony]  Laikin and Durham were the largest borrowers from 

DCI. [Osler Testimony] 

D. The Laikin Note 

21. Laikin’s line of credit is evidenced by several documents which the parties agree 

Laikin executed.  The parties agree that Laikin executed the August 8, 2002 “Secured 

Promissory Note (Line of Credit),” the August 31, 2003 “First Amended Secured 

Promissory Note (Line of Credit),” and the “Second Amended Secured Promissory 

Note (Line of Credit)” in favor of DCI.  [Stipulations ## 29, 38, 40] 
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22. By its terms, the Second Amended Secured Promissory Note (Line of Credit) 

“amends and replaces” the prior notes and “extended the maturity date on the loan to 

August 31, 2005 and increased the principal amount to $7,000,000.”    

23. The parties also agree that Laikin executed three subsequent amendments to the 

Second Amended Secured Promissory Note (Line of Credit) that on their face either 

changed the date for repayment of the loan or increased the principal amount that 

could be borrowed.  These three subsequent amendments, however, each preserved 

“[a]ll other terms and conditions contained in the [Second Amended Secured 

Promissory Note (Line of Credit)].”  [Stipulations ## 41-46] 

24. Thus, the terms of the Second Amended Secured Promissory Note (Line of Credit) 

generally govern the substance of the agreement between Laikin and DCI, while the 

Third Amendment fixed the maturity date as August 31, 2008, and the other 

amendments increased the credit limit.  This is consistent with the practice of DCI 

and Fair Holdings regarding related party loans of simply increasing the credit limit 

and extending maturity dates when each was reached.   

25. The Second Amended Secured Promissory Note (Line of Credit), as amended, (the 

“Note”) functioned as a line of credit.  Under the Note, Laikin promises to pay “the 

principal sum … or so much of the principal amount of the Loan represented by this 

Note as may be disbursed by the Lender under the terms….”  The Note provides that 

the “principal amount of the Loan outstanding from time to time shall be determined 

by reference to the books and records of the Lender and all payments by the Maker on 

account of the Loan shall be recorded.”  [Joint Exhibit V at 1] 
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26. The Note further provides that “[s]uch books and records shall be deemed prima facia 

to be correct as to such matters.” [Id.] 

27. Under the Note, Laikin and any endorsers “severally waive demand, presentment for 

payment and notice of nonpayment of this Note and each of them consents to any 

renewal or extensions of time of payment of this Note without notice.”  The Note 

provides that the “entire outstanding principal balance of this Note shall be due and 

payable, together with accrued interest, at Final Maturity.”  [Id.]   

28. The Note provides that interest on the unpaid balance of the loan outstanding prior to 

final maturity will accrue at a per annum rate equal to 1% above the interest rate then 

being paid by Fair Finance on its V-6 security deposits, and further provides that 

upon failure to pay at final maturity, the lender may “(a) increase the applicable 

interest rate on this Note two percent (2%) and (b) add any unpaid accrued interest to 

the principal and such sum will bear interest thereon until paid at the rate provided in 

this Note.”   

Advances Under the Note 

29. Accounting for advances made under the Note was done contemporaneously and was 

reconciled on a daily basis primarily by Osler, the secretary of DCI. [Osler 

Testimony, Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII]  After July 2007,8 advance information, in 

                                                 
8 In July 2007, the Note receivable was transferred to the books and records of Fair Finance.  At the time this 
occurred, the books and records of DCI showed a balance on the Note of $14,510,844.84 in principal and 
$2,100,971.81 in interest.  Plaintiff’s Exhibit MMMMM. This was done in an attempt to bolster the financial picture 
of Fair Finance.  No money was received by DCI in exchange for this transfer to Fair Finance.  It was simply a book 
transfer so that after July 2007, the Note was carried on the books of Fair Finance as an asset.  In the January 29, 
2009 Offering Circular, the Note, with a balance of $17,534,479.84, was shown as part of “Other Loans Receivable” 
which as of December 31, 2007 totaled $20,238,760.  [Klein Testimony and Plaintiff’s Exhibit RRR, p. 38].  
Similarly, the proposed Offering Circular dated November 24, 2009 shows the Note constituting $19,134,567.15 of 
the “Non-related parties” loan receivables.  Defendant makes an issue out of the characteristics identified in the 
Offering Circulars in comparison to the terms of Note.  The Court does not find the argument persuasive.  The 
Plaintiff’s forensic accountant identified it as the Note and the books and records show the accounting transfer of the 
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addition to being contemporaneously recorded, was transmitted on a monthly basis to 

Eileen Hostetler, the Assistant Controller at Fair Finance, who then recorded those 

advances on Fair Finances’ Books and Records and calculated and recorded 

accumulated interest. [Osler Testimony/Hostetler Testimony, Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII 

– showing advances on the Note from its inception through December 14, 2009 and 

Plaintiff’s Exhibit LLLLL- showing advances and interest on Laikin Note, created by 

Osler and maintained by him until transferred to Fair Finance, and then maintained by 

Hostetler, and Plaintiff’s Exhibit OOOOO- Fair Finance’s General Ledger regarding 

the Note] 

30. Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII was adjusted in July 2007 to show a credit of $14,510,844.84 

on the Note balance.  Contemporaneously, on July 31, 2007, the General Ledger for 

Fair Finance shows an entry in the same amount for the Note. [See Plaintiff’s Exhibit 

OOOOO].  Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII continued to reflect advances or payments made 

under the Note though the balance was inaccurate as a result of the book transfer of 

the Note balance as of July 31, 2007 to Fair Finance.  In addition, Hostetler continued 

to record advances and payments on the spreadsheet created by Osler but maintained 

by her after the transfer of the accounting obligation with respect to the Note. [See 

Exhibit LLLLL] 

31. The last day Fair Finance employees closed the books on the Note was as of 

September 30, 2009, and the amount outstanding on the Note on that date was 

$19,134,567.15. [Klein Testimony] 

32. At trial Laikin claimed that at some point in 2009 when presented with another 

amendment to the Note by attorney Sallee, Laikin told Sallee that he believed the 
                                                                                                                                                             
Note to Fair Finance. 
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Note was no longer outstanding.  Laikin further claimed that Sallee acknowledged 

Laikin’s position and agreed with it.  Laikin’s self-serving testimony is not 

corroborated by the testimony of Sallee.  Sallee, a friend of Laikin, is an attorney who 

has done work for Laikin, DCI, Fair Finance, Fair Holdings, and National Lampoon.  

[Sallee Depo. 22:2 – 15, 28:4-25]  In contrast to Laikin’s testimony, Sallee does not 

recall Laikin ever asserting that the Note was no longer outstanding or had been paid 

off. [Sallee Depo. 82:11-20]  The only thing Sallee recalled Laikin saying about his 

obligation was that some of the accounting was wrong. [Id.] 

33. By his own admission, until late 2009, Laikin never asked to see the books and 

records of DCI, he never looked at the books and records of DCI, he never asked for a 

statement of his outstanding balance, and he never requested that the Note be marked 

satisfied. [Laikin Depo Vol II, p. 150:10-151:16]  In fact, he continued to take 

advances under the Note through December 14, 2009. [Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII, p. 14-

15]  Osler testified that not long before the FBI raid at Fair Finance, which took place 

in late November 2009,9 Laikin and his accountant Weingardt were inquiring as to the 

balance of the Note.  Based on Weingardt’s testimony, it was in that time frame that 

Weingardt was preparing amended tax returns for Laikin and his wife for tax years 

2005 and 2006. 

34. On November 23, 2009, Sallee asked Osler to send Laikin’s loan documentation to 

Mr. Ronald Kaffen, the attorney working on the Offering Circular for Fair Finance. 

35. There is no dispute that the books and records indicate that Laikin owes millions of 

dollars under the Note.  Laikin acknowledged in his responses to interrogatories 

advances totaling $11,164,951.85.  During his deposition, Laikin acknowledged an 
                                                 
9 See Finding of Fact # 76, herein. 
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additional $1,204,588.83 making the total amount of advances acknowledged by 

Laikin $12,369,540.68. [Klein Testimony]   

36. Klein, the Trustee’s forensic accountant, who was tasked with assisting the Trustee in 

preparing the bankruptcy schedules for Fair Finance following the commencement of 

the involuntary bankruptcy case against Fair Finance, reviewed the books and records 

of Fair Finance and DCI in light of Laikin’s continued dispute of certain transactions 

listed on his Note balance.  Based on his review, he opined that certain changes 

should be made to the books and records regarding the Note balance.   

37. First, Klein opined that three (3) advances totaling $66,000 should be removed from 

Laikin’s balance.  Klein testified that these three advances likely should not have 

been attributed to the Note balance. 

38. Second, he reversed a $3,272,747 write-off that appeared on Fair Finance’s books and 

records, but not DCI’s and which he testified appeared unsupported. [Klein 

Testimony].  Eileen Hostetler testified that the $3,272,747 write-off was entered on 

the books and records of Fair Finance based on instructions emailed to her from 

Durham on November 23, 2009, i.e., the day before the FBI raid on Fair Finance. 

[Hostetler Testimony]  Klein testified that he found the email from Durham to be an 

insufficient basis for making the write-off and could find no support in the books and 

records of Fair Finance or DCI to support such a write-off. [Klein Testimony]  

39. Laikin disputes transactions with a reference “D. Bruce Johnston” which were listed 

on Laikin’s Note balance.  Klein testified that he did not reverse the advances or 

payments shown on Laikin’s account for “D. Bruce Johnston”.  Klein acknowledged 

that the promissory note reflecting a loan to D. Bruce Johnston and Dawna J. 
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Johnston identified One Leaf Associates, not Laikin, as the lender. [Defendant’s 

Exhibit 30]  Klein also agreed that One Leaf Associates had the same payment 

address as Obsidian and DCI.  [Defendant’s Exhibits 30, 32]  At trial, Laikin denied 

knowing about or being a part of One Leaf Associates.   

40. Klein testified that, based on Laikin’s undisputed association with an entity by the 

name of Four Leaf Partners and Four Leaf Management [Laikin Testimony – a 

company involving Laikin and two other partners created to provide Laikin an avenue 

to invest in technology and internet companies], and the association in the work 

papers of Fair Finance’s accountants, Somerset CPAs, P.C., of the Johnstons’ loan to 

Laikin, Klein’s professional opinion was that the advances to the Johnstons were 

properly attributed to the Note balance.   

41. The Court finds Laikin’s denial of this advance not credible in light of Klein’s 

testimony and the deposition testimony of Sallee with respect to Laikin’s business 

entities.  During Sallee’s deposition the following exchange took place: 

Q: You mentioned that you represented business entities affiliated with Mr. 

Laikin.  Other than this housing company that you’ve talked about, any other 

business entities that you’ve worked for? 

A: Yes.  I don’t, I don’t recall the specific names, but I know that there – 

several of them involved leafs, like three leaf, four leaf, two leaf.  I don’t 

remember how leafs they got the to [sic], but there were some entities.  And I 

think that was in the ‘90s possibly. 

 Sallee Depo. 28:25-29:10.  

10-05043-mss    Doc 234    FILED 10/24/13    ENTERED 10/24/13 16:20:09    Page 17 of 4210-50494-pmc    Doc 1455    FILED 06/04/14    ENTERED 06/04/14 16:43:24    Page 152 of 177



18 
 

42. This is just one example of why the Court will not credit the testimony of Laikin 

disputing any of the advances. 

43. Finally, Klein testified that he recalculated the accumulated interest because a default 

interest rate higher than that consistent with the provisions of the Note had been used 

through September 2009.  This resulted in a reduction in the balance on the Note in 

the amount of $816,000. 

44. Thus, Klein calculated that as of December 31, 2009, the balance on the Note,  was 

$15,385,342.84 in principal and $7,740,246.21 in interest, for a total of 

$23,125,589.05 owing as of that date. [Klein Testimony / Plaintiff’s Exhibit 

OOOOO]  The default rate of interest varied from September 1, 2008 to September 

30, 2009.  After September 30, 2009, the default rate of interest applied by Klein was 

10.5%. 

45.   Laikin has not rebutted the prima facie presumption of validity to be afforded the 

books and records of DCI, in accordance with the provisions of the Note itself.  In 

particular, Weingardt, the witness proffered by Laikin as a purported expert, was of 

no use to this finder of fact.  For instance, as he began to opine about a possible 

application of proceeds from an August 3, 2003 Brightpoint stock sale, he thought it 

appropriate to apply those proceeds from January 1, 2003.  His testimony was not 

reality based. 

Payments Under the Note 

46. There is no dispute that DCI’s books and records do not show repayment in full as of 

the Final Maturity date of August 31, 2008.  The books and records show modest 

periodic payments made under the note. [Plaintiff’s Exhibit LLLLL]  
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Collateral for the Note 

47. In addition to the Note, Laikin entered into a Pledge Agreement with DCI pursuant to 

which Laikin was to pledge to DCI the securities identified on Schedule A (the 

“Pledge Agreement”). [Joint Exhibit III]  The securities identified on Exhibit A were 

“210,000 shares of common stock of Brightpoint, Inc.” that “have been transferred or 

will be transferred to account #885-23467-10 with Securities Research, Inc. in an 

account of Timothy Durham.” [Joint Exhibit III]  As the Trustee’s forensic 

accountant noted, this is an unusual arrangement inasmuch as Exhibit A provided for 

the transfer of shares into an account of Timothy Durham at Securities Research, Inc. 

(the “Durham Account”), not into an account of DCI. 

48. The parties stipulated that in August 2002 shares of common stock of Brightpoint 

were transferred from an account in Laikin’s name at Securities Research, Inc. to the 

Durham Account. [Stipulation #31]  In addition, shares of common stock of 

Brightpoint were transferred from an account in Laikin’s wife’s name at Securities 

Research, Inc. to the Durham Account. [Stipulation #32] 

49. At the time the shares were transferred from the Laikins’ accounts to the Durham 

Account, the Durham Account already held shares of stock of Brightpoint. 

[Stipulation #33]  The Laikins’ shares were commingled with Durham’s shares in the 

Durham Account. 

50. DCI never foreclosed on the Laikins’ shares.  Laikin testified that Durham sold stock 

at Laikin’s direction.  No records of requests for the sale of stock were provided to 

the Court, no records of stock being sold were provided to the Court, no record of the 

disposition of the Laikins’ shares was provided to the Court.   
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51. The parties stipulated that the first time Durham sold shares of common stock of 

Brightpoint held in the Durham Account was August 5, 2003 [Stipulation #53], and 

all of the Brightpoint stock was sold by May 2, 2006 [Stipulation #54].10  

52. According to the testimony of Laikin and Weingardt, the accountant who prepared 

Laikin’s 2003 tax return, Laikin did not claim any gain from the sale of Brightpoint 

stock in his 2003 tax return.  The Court’s review of Plaintiff’s Exhibit FFFF11 reveals 

that Laikin reported a long term capital gain with respect to the sale of shares of 

Brightpoint in 2003 on Schedule D, statement 14, in the amount of $77,161. 

53. No evidence was presented to the Court showing that any of the 2003 proceeds from 

the sale of the Laikins’s shares went to DCI, or, in fact, that they pertained to the 

shares transferred under the Pledge Agreement. 

E. Laikin’s Use of Advances and Involvement in the Fraud at Fair Finance 

54. Laikin used advances from DCI to perpetuate the securities fraud of which he was 

accused in the Indictment in the Laikin Criminal Case.  The Indictment in the Laikin 

Criminal Case, in its overt acts discussion in Count One, alleges that (i) “[i]t was a 

part of the conspiracy that defendants DANIEL LAIKIN, DENNIS BARSKY, TIM 

DOUGHERTY, and their co-conspirators sought to artificially inflate the price of 

National Lampoon stock by causing manipulative market activity in National 

Lampoon stock that was designed to appear to be the product of free and fair market 

                                                 
10 Under the Sanctions Order, Laikin was precluded from adducing evidence that Brightpoint stock sale proceeds 
from 2004 through 2007 paid down his note.  Thus, the evidence at trial was limited to transactions in 2003.  There 
is no dispute that the proceeds of the stock sales in 2003 are not sufficient to extinguish the obligation under Laikin 
Note.    
11 This Exhibit and several others were submitted to the Court pursuant to the provisions of a stipulated protective 
order [Docket #37].  At an October 21, 2013 post –trial hearing of Laikin’s motion to maintain under seal Plaintiff’s 
Exhibits DDD, LLL, FFFF and Defendant’s Exhibits 10, 11 and 12 and the Plaintiff’s response thereto [Adv. Pro. 
Dkt. ##227 and 233], counsel agreed that this Court could make reference to any of the sealed exhibits, including 
quoting from them, in this Report and Recommendation, but would transmit those exhibits to the District Court still 
under seal, leaving to the District Court the ultimate decision of whether those exhibits should be unsealed.  
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forces,” (ii) “[i]n or about March 2008, LAIKIN agreed to pay Eduardo Rodriguez, 

charged elsewhere, approximately $60,000 to help create artificial volume in National 

Lampoon stock,” and (iii) “[o]n or about March 19, 2008, defendant LAIKIN caused 

approximately $60,000 to be wire transferred from a bank account in Indianapolis, 

Indiana, to a bank account in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania, for the benefit of Rodriguez as 

payment for generating volume purchases in National Lampoon stock.”  [Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit O] 

55. On March 18, 2008, DCI, transferred a total of $60,000 to the IOLTA account of 

Eduardo Rodriguez’s attorney, Edward J. Morris12 (in total, the “Rodriguez 

Transfer”).  [Morris Depo. Vol. II at 9-12.]  Funds used to make the Rodriguez 

Transfer were advanced under the Note, accounted for under the books and records as 

Note advances, and at least half of the Rodriguez Transfer was done at Laikin’s 

direction.  [Laikin Testimony / Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII] 

F. Laikin’s Involvement in the Durham Criminal Case & Knowledge of the Fair 
Finance Fraud. 

 
56. Laikin was well aware of the fraud at Fair Finance.  In early 2009, within weeks of 

resigning as a director of Fair Finance and well before the FBI raid13 - Laikin and his 

own criminal defense attorneys in the Laikin Criminal Case were attempting to curry 

                                                 
12 In early 2008, Rodriguez retained Edward J. Morris as counsel to form a Delaware corporation named Cheetah 
Consulting Group, LLC for the purported purpose of entering into a consulting agreement with National Lampoon.  
[Morris Depo. Vol. II 9:3-10]  Morris served as counsel for Rodriguez.  [Morris Depo. Vol. II 8:25-9:2]  Morris 
maintains an “interest on lawyer trust account” at PNC Bank in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania (the “IOLTA Account”), 
established for the purpose of receiving funds from his clients.  Fund transfers into the IOLTA Account and out of 
the IOLTA account are done according to instructions from Morris’ clients.  [Morris Depo. at 17-18]  Rodriguez 
told Morris to expect a $60,000 transfer into the IOLTA Account in connection with Rodriguez’s purported 
consulting agreement with National Lampoon.  [Morris Depo. Vol. II 9:11-15]  The IOLTA Account received two 
separate $30,000 wire transfers from DCI on March 18, 2008.  [Morris Depo. Vol. II at 9-12]  Laikin testified that 
he believed $30,000.00 of the Rodriguez Transfer would be accounted for under Durham’s line of credit with DCI. 
[Laikin testimony] 
13 See Finding of Fact # 76, herein. 
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the Government’s favor by providing information to the FBI.  On February 27, 2009, 

Laikin, through his counsel, made a proffer to certain Assistant United States 

Attorneys (“AUSAs”) and an FBI agent (the “February Laikin Proffer”).  [Shtasel 

Depo. 23:10-24:7 & Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD]   

57. The information provided at the February Laikin Proffer was “based upon 

information developed by and with Laikin.”  [Shtasel Depo. 23:16-24:13 & Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit DDD, Motion, pp. 2-3] 

58. At the February Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government through his counsel 

that “Fair Finance’s offering of up to $250 million worth of high interest rate 

certificates of deposit to investors in Ohio was a ‘Stanford-like Ponzi Scheme’ and 

that there likely would not be enough money for Fair Finance to repay its defrauded 

investors.”  [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 3; Shtasel Depo. 115:22-117:16 & 

Ex. 23 at p. 3; Poluka Depo. 19:2-20:16] 

59.  At the February Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government through his counsel 

that “Durham had unlawfully used Fair Finance as a vehicle to fund Dunham’s [sic] 

‘lavish lifestyle.’”  [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 3] 

60.  At the February Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the government through his counsel 

that “[m]ore than $124 million of the approximately $200 million raised through Fair 

Finance’s offering had been loaned to Durham and related parties of Durham without 

adequate disclosure, including disclosure of the risks relating to such loans.”  

[Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 3] 

61. At the February Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government through his counsel 

that “Durham and Fair Finance intentionally violated Section 5 of the Securities Act 
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of 1933 (the ’33 Act’) by relying on a rarely-used intrastate exemption to the ’33 Act 

to avoid registering its offerings with the United States Securities and Exchange 

Commission.  Although the intrastate exemption requires that substantially all of the 

funds raised would be utilized in Ohio, Durham knew that he and his related entities, 

which received and benefited from Fair Finance’s funds, were located outside of 

Ohio.”  [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 3](emphasis in original) 

62. Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-parties to independently confirm whether 

Fair Finance was operating as a Ponzi or other illegal scheme.  [Shtasel Depo. 27:8-

20, 30:4-11; Poluka Depo. 19:2-20:16]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-

parties to independently confirm whether Durham used Fair Finance money to fund 

his lifestyle.  [Shtasel Depo. 28:7-13, 30:4-11; Poluka Depo. 20:17-21:7]  Laikin’s 

counsel did not speak with third-parties to independently confirm whether more than 

$124 million of the $200 million raised by Fair Finance through its V-Note offerings 

had been loaned to Durham or related parties without adequate disclosure. [Schtasel 

Depo. 28:14-29:7]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-parties to independently 

confirm whether Durham intentionally violated securities laws by relying on an 

intrastate exemption when Durham knew that persons and entities receiving related 

party loans were located outside of Ohio. [Shtasel Depo. 29:8-30:11]  Laikin’s 

counsel did not speak with counsel for Durham, Fair Finance or any of their related 

entities regarding the matters discussed at the February Laikin Proffer. [Shtasel Depo. 

32:19-33:4]  Laikin was the sole source of information discussed at the February 

Laikin Proffer. 
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63. On March 19, 2009, Laikin was interviewed by certain AUSAs and FBI agents (the 

“March Laikin Proffer”). [Shtasel Depo. 46:3-15 & 48 & Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, 

Motion, pp. 4-5; Poluka Depo. 38:1-19]  

64. The March Laikin Proffer took place less than two and one-half months after Laikin 

resigned from the Fair Finance Board of Directors.  During the March Laikin Proffer, 

Laikin discussed Durham and Fair Finance during the course of the several hour 

session.  [Schtasel Depo. 51:3-6 & Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 5] 

65. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin and his counsel informed the Government that 

“Fair Finance is a subsidiary of DC Investments, a company owned by Durham.” 

[Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 5]  He further informed the Government that 

“Fair Finance provides consumer loans and packaged health club receivables.  Fair 

Finance generates cash by issuing uninsured variable rate subordinated debt to 

investors.”  [Id.] 

66. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government that “[s]everal years 

after Durham acquired Fair Finance he began lending Fair Finance’s money to his 

own related companies.  Fair Finance had $200 million in deposits, of which $100 

million had been loaned to Durham controlled companies.” [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, 

Motion, p. 5]   

67. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government that “Fair Finance has 

paid for Durham’s extravagant lifestyle and luxury cars, which is contrary to 

representations made to Fair Finance investors who believe that Fair Finance is using 

its cash to purchase consumer receivable loans.” [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 

5]   
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68. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government that “[s]ubstantially all 

of Fair Finance’s unsecured debt is carried by Durham’s controlled companies.”  

[Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 5]   

69. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government that “Laikin was on 

the Board of Directors of Fair Finance and Durham had repeatedly spoken with him 

about Fair Finance’s liquidity crisis over the past six months.” [Plaintiff’s Exhibit 

DDD, Motion, p. 5]   

70. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government that “Durham was 

concerned that Fair Finance did not have enough cash to make redemptions on 

maturing debt and that such redemptions were being paid by Durham himself.  For 

example, an Ohio church sought to redeem a $250,000 note from Fair Finance, but 

could not because Fair Finance did not have the cash to repay the note.  Durham 

negotiated repayment of the note over a period of time rather than at the maturity date 

to avoid default.” [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 5]   

71. At the March Laikin Proffer, Laikin informed the Government that “Durham was 

using new investor money in Fair Finance and assets from CLST Holdings to pay 

redemptions.” [Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 5]   

72. Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-parties to independently confirm whether 

Fair Finance was a subsidiary of DCI or whether DCI was owned by Durham.  

[Shtasel Depo. 52:3-21; Poluka Depo. 39:19-40:2]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak 

with third-parties to independently confirm whether Fair Finance sold consumer 

receivables or generated cash by issuing uninsured variable rate subordinated debt to 

investors.  [Schtasel Depo. 52:22-53:12; Poluka Depo. 40:3-15]  Laikin’s counsel did 
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not speak with third-parties to independently confirm whether Durham had lent $100 

million of Fair Finance money to his own companies.  [Shtasel Depo. 54:20-55:18; 

Poluka Depo. 40:16-25]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-parties to 

independently confirm whether Durham used Fair Finance’s money to pay for his 

extravagant lifestyle, rather than purchase consumer receivables.  [Schtasel Depo. 

57:22-58:11]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-parties to independently 

confirm whether substantially all of Fair Finance’s unsecured debt was carried by 

Durham-controlled companies.  [Schtasel Depo. 58:16-59:7; Poluka Depo. 42:21-

43:7]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-parties to independently confirm 

whether Laikin had served on Fair Finance’s Board of Directors or whether Durham 

had spoken repeatedly with Laikin about Fair Finance’s liquidity crisis.  [Schtasel 

Depo. 59:8-60:5; Poluka Depo. 43:8-44:5]  Laikin’s counsel did not speak with third-

parties to independently confirm whether Durham was paying redemptions on V-

Notes himself because Fair Finance did not have the cash to make redemption 

payments. [Schtasel Depo. 60:6-61:3; Poluka Depo. 44:6-20]  Laikin’s counsel did 

not speak with third-parties to independently confirm whether Durham was using new 

investor money in Fair Finance and CLST Holdings assets to pay redemptions on V-

Notes. [Schtasel Depo. 61:4-19; Poluka Depo. 44:21-45:19]  Laikin was the sole 

source of information discussed at the March Laikin Proffer. 

73. On January 22, 2010, Laikin’s counsel filed Defendant Laikin’s Motion for the 

Production of Materials Pursuant to Brady v. Maryland (the “Brady Motion”) in the 

Criminal Court in connection with Laikin’s sentencing hearing in the Laikin Criminal 
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Case.  [Schtasel Depo. 18:22-19:13 & Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD; Poluka Depo. 12:6-

16] 

74. The Brady Motion sought production of materials and information that “relate to 

Laikin’s cooperation with ongoing criminal and civil investigations” of Fair Finance, 

Durham and CLST Holdings, Inc. [Schtasel Depo. 19:24-20:16 & Plaintiff’s Exhibit 

DDD; Poluka Depo. 13:18-14:10] 

75. Laikin’s attorneys asserted as recently as last year that Laikin’s proffer in the Laikin 

Criminal Case prompted and assisted the Government in its prosecution of Durham, 

Cochran and Snow. [Poluka Depo. at 140-144]   Laikin was hoping to gain post-

sentencing cooperation credit, but the Government’s response was “to the effect that 

Laikin got enough breaks.” [Poluka Depo. at 141-142:2] 

76.  As discussed more fully below, Laikin’s lack of credibility and the circumstantial 

evidence under the totality of the circumstances indicate that Laikin was a knowing 

participant in the Fair Finance fraud scheme while he was a director of Fair Finance.  

In fact, Laikin continued to receive advances under the Laikin Note through the end 

of 2009, months after he had asserted that Fair Finance “a subsidiary of DCI” was a 

Ponzi scheme. [Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII at 14-15 / Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, Motion, p. 

5] 

G. Transfer from DCI to Trustee Pursuant to Compromise 

77. On November 24, 2009, agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation raided the 

offices of Obsidian and the office of Fair Finance located in Akron, Ohio. 

[Stipulations ##110 and 111]  DCI’s business and computer records, which had been 

stored in the same location, were also seized that day.    
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78. An involuntary bankruptcy case was commenced against Fair Finance on February 8, 

2010.  At that time, Fair Finance was owed money by its parent and grandparent 

companies, FHI and DCI. [Bash Testimony]   

79. Plaintiff is the duly appointed Chapter 7 Trustee for the Debtor. [Stipulation #4] 

80. On June 16, 2010, the Court entered an order approving a compromise and 

assignment agreement between DCI and the Trustee pursuant to which all of DCI’s 

property, including accounts receivable and notes receivable of DCI, including the 

Note, were assigned to the Trustee. [Bash Testimony, Plaintiff’s Exhibit LLLLLL]. 

Conclusions of Law 

1. Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1409. 

2. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Laikin pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Bankruptcy Procedure 7004(f). 

3. Indiana law governs the claims and defenses at issue in the adversary proceeding as 

the Note specifies that Indiana Law applies. Joint Exhibits II, IV, V. 

4. The Trustee’s primary claim in this proceeding is a claim for breach of the Note.  

Given the language of the Note, it is not a negotiable instrument governed by Indiana 

Code § 26-1-1.1-101.  Rather, the Note is governed under Indiana common law. Yin 

v. Society Nat. Bank Indiana, 665 N.E.2d 58, 62-63 (Ind. Ct. App. 1996). 

5. The elements of a breach of contract action are the existence of a valid contract, the 

defendant’s breach thereof and damages.  Breeding v. Kye’s Inc., 831 N.E.2d 188, 

190-91 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005).  “A party breaches a contract when it fails to perform 

all of the obligations that it has agreed to undertake.”  Id. at 191.  Trustee, as the 

party asserting the breach of contract, bears the burden of proving each element of 
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breach.  Indiana-Am. Water Co., Inc. v. Town of Seelyville, 698 N.E.2d 1255, 1258 

(Ind. Ct. App. 1998). 

Existence of a contract 

6. There is no dispute that Laikin entered into the Note.  In addition, the receivable for 

the Note was transferred to the Trustee and is enforceable by the Trustee.  Therefore, 

the first element is satisfied. 

Breach of the contract 

7. The Plaintiff alleged that Laikin failed to pay the balance owing under the Note at 

Final Maturity.  The evidence presented to the Court includes the books and records, 

deemed prima facie correct under the terms of the Note, which clearly show that the 

obligation owing under the Note was not paid as of August 31, 2008 or thereafter.  

Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII, LLLLL, and OOOOO.  The Trustee has shown a breach of 

contract.   

Affirmative Defenses 

8. The burden of proving an affirmative defense to a breach of contract action lies with 

the party claiming the defense.  Drenter v. Duitz, 883 N.E.2d 1194, 1201 (Ind. App. 

2008); Van de Leuv v. Methodist Hosp. of Indiana, Inc., 642 N.E.2d 531, 533 (Ind. 

App. 1994).  As Laikin notes, the assignee of a contract takes the assignment subject 

to all equities and defenses existing between the assignor and the debtor.  See Univ. 

Casework Systems, Inc. v. Bahre, 362 N.E.2d 155 (Ind. App. 1977).  Therefore, 

Laikin argues he may assert in defense to the Plaintiff’s claims all equities and 
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defenses he would have had against DCI.  The defenses asserted by Laikin are 

payment, estoppel and waiver.14 

Payment 

Sale of Brightpoint stock 

9. Laikin asserts that his account should have been credited for the proceeds of the 

Brightpoint shares he and his wife transferred to the Durham Account.  However, he 

has presented the Court with no evidence upon which the Court could base such a 

conclusion. Laikin himself professed no knowledge regarding 2003 stock sales or the 

use or application of proceeds from such sales, and his own accountant testified that 

Laikin never claimed any 2003 proceeds on his tax return.   

10. Laikin’s expert witness, Weingardt, nonetheless, claims that 2003 Brightpoint stock 

sale proceeds should be applied to the Note because Durham attributed 2003 

Brightpoint stock sale gains to Laikin in Durham’s own tax return for that year.  

What is missing from Weingardt’s analysis is any evidence that DCI received any 

proceeds from the sale of Brightpoint shares in 2003.  Not only did Laikin himself, 

according to his “expert’s” testimony, not claim any gain from 2003 Brightpoint 

stock sales in his 2003 tax return, Laikin’s own sworn interrogatory responses, which 

purport to illustrate his repayment defense, show no Brightpoint stock sale 

repayments for 2003.15  [Plaintiff’s Exhibit W]  Further Laikin did nothing to cause 

any contemporaneous record of repayment to DCI to be made on its books. 

                                                 
14 In the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted to the Court by Laikin just prior to the 
commencement of trial, Laikin for the first time, raised a new defense – prior material breach.  At the outset of the 
trial, the Court granted the Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine and excluded this untimely defense. 
15  In attempting to apply the 2003 Brightpoint proceeds from Durham’s stock sales, Mr. Weingardt utilized a 
pro rata method of allocating proceeds in his opinion.  The Court does not believe the pro rata method is proper.   
Laikin admitted that he and Durham had no agreement on how proceeds would be allocated between him and 
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11. The Pledge Agreement purports to create a lien in favor of DCI in certain stock 

described in Schedule A to the Pledge Agreement as collateral for Laikin’s 

obligation to DCI under the Note.   

12. According to Laikin, it was his understanding that the proceeds from the sales of the 

Brightpoint stock were to be applied to Laikin’s debt to DCI.  However, in reality, it 

is undisputed that no proceeds were ever applied to pay down the Note.     

13. Laikin argues that his debt to DCI under the Note should be credited by the amount 

of the proceeds from the sale of the Brightpoint stock.  For the reasons discussed 

below, the Court rejects that argument and holds that Laikin is not entitled to credit 

the proceeds of the Brightpoint stock sales against his obligations under the Note. 

14. The Pledge Agreement gave DCI the rights of a secured party under the Indiana 

Uniform Commercial Code.16   Putting aside the fact that Laikin himself does not 

know if DCI had any rights to the Durham Account, it is unquestionable that under 

the Indiana Uniform Commercial Code, collateral can be sold only in foreclosure 

after a default.  IC 26-1-9.1-609, IC 26-1-9.1-610.   
                                                                                                                                                             
Durham from the sale of the commingled Brightpoint shares. (Laikin testimony.)   In the absence of such an 
agreement, the Court is presented with a variety of methods to apply.  In re Perkins, No. 10-3164, 2011 WL 
4458961 *4 (Bankr. N. D. Ohio Sept. 23, 2011) (“methods of tracing commingled funds are ‘an equitable substitute 
for the impossibility of specific identifications’ and therefore a court must ‘exercise case-specific judgment to select 
the method best suited to achieve a fair and equitable result on the facts before them.’”)   The pro rata method 
applies only “where a person wrongfully mingles money of two or more persons.” RESTATEMENT (FIRST) OF 
RESTITUTION § 213(1).   There is no suggestion that, as between Durham and Laikin, Durham wrongfully 
commingled the Brightpoint stock.  Indeed, the Pledge Agreement provided for the transfer of Laikin’s Brighpoint 
stock to Durham’s personal account.  The Trustee’s expert opined that the first-in, -first-out (FIFO) method is called 
for by the IRS for the years at issue.   This Court recommends the adoption of that approach.  It stands to reason that 
Laikin pledged his shares, and directed their sale, in an attempt to realize the largest possible gain from the stock.  
And the IRS uses the FIFO method for the very purpose that it logically presumes the greatest possible realization of 
gain, and hence taxes on such gains.  Moreover, use of this method would produce a realization of gain consistent 
with that called for by the IRS in the absence of an agreement between the parties, which Laikin acknowledges does 
not exist.   Thus, if proceeds were attributable to the Note, it appears that the FIFO method of allocation would 
produce the most fair and equitable result.  While the Laikins may have realized large capital gains on the 
disposition of their Brightpoint shares, the trial record is devoid of evidence that the proceeds of those sales were 
paid to DCI on Laikin’s account. 
16 While Indiana common law controls the analysis of the Note, UCC Article 9, as adopted in Indiana, controls the 
analysis of the collateral deposited pursuant to the Pledge Agreement. 
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15. In this case, Laikin acknowledged that he never received notices of default from 

DCI.17 Moreover, Laikin testified that it is not his contention that DCI foreclosed on 

the pledged Brightpoint stock. [Laikin testimony.]  Rather, it is Laikin’s contention 

that Laikin himself directed Durham to sell the stock and apply the proceeds to the 

Note.    

16. The Pledge Agreement provides: 

7.  Application of Proceeds.  The proceeds of any sale of all or any 
part of the Pledged Securities, and any other cash at the time held 
by the Lender under this Pledge Agreement, shall be applied by the 
Lender in the following order: 

* * * 

b.  to the payment of any other of the Obligations in such order as 
the Lender may determine… 

(Joint Exhibit III)(italics added).   

17. The Court finds that Section 7 of the Pledge Agreement was not triggered under the 

facts presented in this case.  First, there is no evidence that DCI ever held the 

proceeds of the Pledged Securities.  Since Section 7 addresses how DCI was to apply 

proceeds of a sale of the pledged Brightpoint stock to Laikin’s obligation, DCI had a 

contractual duty to apply proceeds of the Brightpoint stock only if DCI “held” those 

proceeds “under this Pledge Agreement.”  The Court interprets the phrase “held . . . 

under this Pledge Agreement” to mean that the contractual duty to apply the 

proceeds to Laikin’s obligations would only arise if DCI received and “held” the sale 

proceeds by virtue of the fact that the Brightpoint stock was collateral under the 

                                                 
17  Laikin makes much of the fact that he never received a default notice from DCI.  The Laikin Note, 
however, required no demand or notice of non-payment, and Laikin consented to the extension of time of repayment 
without notice.  (Joint Exhibit V at 3.) 
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Pledge Agreement — i.e., if DCI held the cash proceeds of a sale because DCI 

foreclosed on and sold the Brightpoint stock after a default. 

18. Here, though, DCI never executed on the collateral via a sale of the Brightpoint 

stock, as Laikin himself admits.  Rather, Laikin directed Durham to sell his stock.   

Durham, acting as Laikin’s agent sold the Brightpoint stock, and apparently 

converted the proceeds.  Thus, DCI never “held” those proceeds “under” the Pledge 

Agreement.    

19. In addition, the law does not require the Court to find that the sale of the pledged 

securities constituted payments of Laikin’s obligations under the Note, even though 

Durham misappropriated the proceeds from such sales. Laikin misconstrues the 

applicability of cases like Old Line Automobile to the facts of this case. Old Line 

Automobile Insurors v. Kuehl, 127 Ind. App. 445, 455, 141 N.E.2d 858, 862 (Ind. Ct. 

App. 1957).  Old Line Automobile involved an insurance agent who collected 

premiums from the insured but did not remit the payments to the insurer.  In an 

action by the insured against its insurer, the court summarized the applicable law.  

[W]here the acts of a principal are such as to justify 
innocent third persons, who have relied thereon, in believing that 
the agent is authorized to do that which he does, although the agent 
in fact had no such authority, the principal is bound thereby, under 
the rule that where one of two innocent persons must suffer 
because of the betrayal of a trust reposed in a third, the person 
most at fault must bear the loss. 

 
Id. at 452 (citing Wagner v. McCool, 52 Ind. App. 124, 100 N.E. 395 (1935)).  In that 

case, the Court found that the insured was justified in believing the agent had the 

authority to collect the premium payments.   
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20. An exception to the general rule that the principal will be liable for the acts of his 

agent exists if the third person knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should 

know, that the agent is exceeding his authority. Michigan Mut. Ins. Co. v. Sports, 

Inc., 698 N.E.2d 834, 849 n.17 (Ind. Ct. App. 1998) In such circumstances, the 

principal is not bound. Id.; see also Menard v. Dage MTI, Inc., 726 N.E.2d 1206 

(Ind. 2000) (principal not responsible if third party had notice authority exceeded or 

did not reasonably believe agent was authorized). 

21. For instance, in American Heritage Banco Inc. v. Cranston, 928 N.E.2d 239 (Ind. 

App. 2010) the court explained,   

“[t]he law is designed to protect the weak and credulous 
from the wiles and stratagems of the artful and cunning,” it will not 
protect those who “ ‘stand mentally on equal footing and in no 
fiduciary relation,’ ” if they fail to exercise common sense and 
judgment. Ehle v. Ehle, 737 N.E.2d 429, 435 (Ind.Ct.App.2000) 
(quoting Biberstine v. New York Blower Co., 625 N.E.2d 1308, 
1316 (Ind.Ct.App.1993)). 

 
Id. at 248.  The court found that the law would not aid the Cranstons, sophisticated 

real estate investors, who did not investigate the transaction on their own nor review 

the documents they were asked to and did sign to complete the transaction.  The court 

concluded that the “Cranstons failed to exercise common sense and judgment in the 

instant case when they declined to conduct any investigation whatsoever as to the 

propriety of the … transaction.  Under the circumstances, we will not find a… right 

of reliance.” Id. (reversing the trial court’s judgment in favor of the Cranstons on their 

constructive fraud counterclaim against their mortgagee). 

22. In this case, Laikin never made an inquiry as to the balance of his loan, the payments 

credited toward the loan, or the sale of stocks transferred to the Durham Account.  
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He had no agreement with Durham regarding the allocation of proceeds from any 

brokerage account.  He does not know whether Durham sold stock in 2003, he does 

not know what happened to the proceeds from the sale of stock by Durham in 2003.  

In such a circumstance, the Court finds he failed to exercise common sense and 

judgment.  He continued to draw funds from his line of credit even after he reported 

to the Government that Durham was running Fair Finance, the source of DCI’s 

funds, as a Ponzi Scheme.  He cannot credibly assert that the law should view him as 

the party the law should protect as between himself and the Debtor’s estate. 

Unclean Hands preclude assertion of equitable defenses 

23. The defenses of estoppel and waiver, the only defenses other than purported payment 

that Laikin raised at trial, sound in equity.  Harris v. Brock, 835 F.2d 1190, 1194 n. 8 

(7th Cir. 1987) (describing estoppel and waiver as “equitable doctrines”); City of 

East Chicago, Indiana v. East Chicago Second Century, Inc., 908 N.E.2d 611, 622 

n.2 (Ind. 2009) (describing waiver as an “equitable doctrine”); State, Indiana Civil 

Rights Com’n v. Indianapolis Newspapers, Inc., 716 N.E.2d 943, 947-48 (Ind. 1999) 

(describing waiver and estoppel as “equitable doctrines”); Hrisomalos v. Smith, 600 

N.E.2d 1363, 1366 (Ind. Ct. App. 1992) (identifying “the familiar equitable defenses 

of clean hands, laches and estoppel as well as the defense of acquiescence”); George 

v. Nat’l Collegiate Athletic Ass’n, 945 N.E.2d 150, 153-54 (Ind. 2011) (describing in 

pari delicto as an “equitable doctrine”); see also Schlueter v. Latek, 683 F.3d 350, 

355 (7th Cir. 2012) (“[A] court will not enforce a defense of in pari delicto if the 

effect would be to encourage or reward a greater wrong.”); U.S. v. Walerko Tool and 

Engineering Corp., 784 F. Supp. 1385, 1388 (N.D. Ind. 1992) (identifying release as 
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an equitable defense); Allegheny Airlines, Inc. v. Forth Corp., 663 F.2d 751, 755 (7th 

Cir. 1981) (identifying accord and satisfaction, estoppel, waiver, leaches and binding 

election as equitable defenses). 

24. The doctrine of unclean hands may bar a defendant’s equitable defenses.  See Hot 

Wax, Inc. v. Turtle Wax, Inc., 191 F.3d 813, 825 (7th Cir. 1999) (“The notion of 

unclean hands working as a bar to the application of laches stems from the belief that 

an equitable defense, such as laches, cannot be used to reward a party’s inequities or 

to defeat justice.”) (citing Precision Inst. Mfg. Co. v. Automotive Maintenance Mach. 

Co., 324 U.S. 806, 814 (1945)); In re Richardson, No. 12-50165, 2013 WL 4498998, 

at *9 (Bankr. S.D. Ind. Aug. 21, 2013) (same); see also Indiana Mills & Mfg., Inc. v. 

Evenflo Co., Inc., No. 04-cv-540SEBVSS, 2005 WL 3150164, at *7 (S.D. Ind. Nov. 

22, 2005) (holding unclean hands barred the defendant’s equitable defenses); see 

also Edwards v. Academy Pub. Corp., 562 N.E.2d 60, 61 (Ind. Ct. App. 1990) 

(holding the trial court erred in failing to consider whether a defendant seeking 

equitable relief did so with unclean hands). 

25. Courts have broad discretion in applying the unclean hands doctrine.  See Packers 

Trading Co. v. Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n, 972 F.2d 144, 148-49 (7th Cir. 

1992) (“Precision explains that the [unclean hands] maxim gives wide range to the 

court’s use of discretion in refusing to aid the unclean litigant.  The court, Precision 

further explains, is ‘not bound by formula or restrained by any limitation that tends 

to trammel the free and just exercise of discretion.’”) (citing Precision Inst. Mfg. Co. 

v. Automotive Maintenance Mach. Co., 324 U.S. 806, 814-15 (1945)). 
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26. Under Indiana law, the unclean hands doctrine applies when a party has intentionally 

engaged in misconduct and the misconduct has an immediate and necessary relation 

to the matter being litigated.  See Hardy v. Hardy, 910 N.E.2d 851, 856 (Ind. Ct. 

App. 2009); Lake County Trust Co. v. Wine, 704 N.E.2d 1035, 1042 (Ind. Ct. App. 

1998). 

27. Intentional misconduct creating unclean hands sometimes includes criminal 

misconduct.  See U.S. v.  Eleven Thousand Dollars ($11,000.00) U.S. Currency, No. 

94-1538, 53 F.3d 334, at *1 (7th Cir. May 5, 1995) (denying the defendant’s 

equitable claims for the return of $11,000 that was loaned to the defendant by family 

and friends but seized by the government when the defendant used the money to 

purchase illegal food stamps because the defendant had “unclean hands” by virtue of 

his criminal purchase of illegal food stamps); Hopper Resources, Inc. v. Webster, 

878 N.E.2d 418, 422-23 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007) (“Yet another maxim provides that 

‘equity follows the law,’….  In application, this means that ‘an equitable right cannot 

be founded on a violation of law.’”); Kochert v. Wiseman, 269 N.E.2d 12, 19 (Ind. 

Ct. App. 1971) (“The old doctrine that a party may not in a court of equity have 

‘unclean hands’ and still seek relief, is certainly applicable where a violation of the 

criminal law is involved.”). 

28. Intentional misconduct creating unclean hands also includes non-criminal 

misconduct.  See Packers Trading Co. v. Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n, 972 

F.2d 144, 148-49 (7th Cir. 1992) (“One’s misconduct which invokes the [unclean 

hands] maxim ‘need not have been of such a nature as to be punishable as a crime or 

as to justify legal proceedings of any character.’”) (citing Precision Inst. Mfg. Co. v. 
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Automotive Maintenance Mach. Co., 324 U.S. 806, 815 (1945)); Phico Ins. Co., Inc. 

v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co. of Am., 93 F. Supp. 2d 982, 994 (S.D. Ind. 2000) 

(“[A]pplication of the doctrine [of unclean hands] under Indiana law need not rise to 

conduct of a criminal nature.  Rather, it seems that the failure to do that which one 

has an affirmative duty to do satisfies the element of misconduct.”). 

29. A defendant’s misconduct has an immediate and necessary relation to the matters at 

issue in the litigation when that misconduct arises from the transaction before the 

court.  Barrett v. Grow, No. 07-cv-486, 2008 WL 4911206, at *5 (S.D. Ind. Nov. 13, 

2008) (stating intentional misconduct has an immediate and necessary relation to a 

case if the unclean party “dirtied [his hands] in acquiring the right he now asserts, or 

[ ] the manner of dirtying renders inequitable the assertion of such rights against the 

defendant”) (citing Republic Molding Corp. v. B.W. Photo Utils., 319 F.2d 347, 349 

(9th Cir. 1963)); Schmidt v. Koch, No. 32A01-0904-CV-209, 918 N.E.2d 26, at *4 

(Ind. Ct. App. Dec. 9, 2009) (holding the plaintiff’s “failure to abide by the terms of 

the same restrictive covenant he sought to enforce against others was not ‘incidental’ 

to the matter being litigated but, rather, had ‘an immediate and necessary relation to 

the matter’”) (internal citations omitted); Hardy v. Hardy, 910 N.E.2d 851, 856 (Ind. 

Ct. App. 2009) (holding the defendants’ transfer of a warranty deed as part of a 

scheme to defraud their creditors had an immediate and necessary relation to the 

defendants’ equitable reformation claims); Hopper Resources, Inc. v. Webster, 878 

N.E.2d 418, 422-23 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007) (holding the contractor’s violation of local 

building permit statutes had an immediate and necessary relation to the contractor’s 

equitable mechanic’s lien foreclosure claim); Lake County Trust Co. v. Wine, 704 
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N.E.2d 1035, 1042 (Ind. Ct. App. 1998) (holding the defendants’ breach of their 

residential leases had an immediate and necessary relation to the defendants’ Section 

1983 claims alleging housing discrimination). 

30. This Court will not entertain Laikin’s equitable affirmative defenses in this case 

(including accord and satisfaction, release, in pari delicto, waiver, estoppel, setoff 

and recoupment) because Laikin approaches this Court with unclean hands.  The 

evidence demonstrates that Laikin has unclean hands because he used proceeds of 

the Note to perpetrate securities fraud.   

31. The evidence demonstrates that Laikin has unclean hands because he knew that 

Durham was using Fair Finance and its affiliates, including the lender on the Note, 

DCI, to run a massive fraud scheme.  Laikin’s 11th hour epiphany that Fair Finance 

was operating as a fraud scheme simply does not ring true.  Laikin helped Durham 

buy Fair Finance, was a director of Fair Finance, and spoke to Durham nearly every 

day.  He claimed knowledge of the fraud scheme at Fair Finance based upon his 

directorship and conversations he had with Durham.  Laikin’s conduct with regard to 

his own Note reinforces the Court’s recommended finding that he knew full well 

what was occurring at Fair Finance.  Although Laikin was the CEO of a publicly-

traded company, he claims he never bothered to track any of the millions of dollars 

advanced under his Note, nor did he track any of the alleged repayments by the sale 

of pledged securities.  Throughout this time, including when he was a director of Fair 

Finance, his loan was carried as a significant asset of the company, and never 

reflected any alleged repayments through the sale of pledged securities, and Laikin 

asked that a Deed of Trust on his real property collateralizing his Note not be 
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recorded.  Finally, Laikin continued to receive advances under the Note through the 

end of 2009, months after he had asserted that Fair Finance “a subsidiary of DCI” 

was a Ponzi scheme. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit IIIII at 14-15 / Plaintiff’s Exhibit DDD, 

Motion, p. 5.) 

32. In short, the Laikin Note bears all the hallmarks of being a loan to “related parties of 

Durham without adequate disclosure, including the disclosure of the risks relating to 

such loans” – the very type Laikin claimed was criminal in seeking to lessen the 

consequences of his own criminal conduct in the Laikin Criminal Case.  Laikin, of 

course, had every motivation not to intervene in the conduct of Fair Finance – he was 

a beneficiary of the process.   He received millions of dollars which helped him keep 

National Lampoon running and afforded him the opportunity to reside in two 

different multi-million dollar California mansions.   

33. Inasmuch as Laikin has presented no evidence showing payment in excess of the 

amounts even he admits were lent to him, and inasmuch as he is barred from 

asserting his other defenses to the Trustee’s claim, there is no question of breach of 

the contract.   The sole remaining question is therefore one of damages.    

Damages 

34. Having failed to prove any applicable affirmative defense to the Trustee’s claim of 

breach of contract, the only remaining question is what damages should be awarded 

to the Trustee.  The books and records show that a total of $23,125,589.05 was due 

and owing as of December, 2009 including principal and accumulated interest [Klein 

Testimony / Plaintiff’s Exhibit OOOOO at 2, 4]  Under the terms of the Note, that 

amount is deemed prima facie correct and the burden of proof lies with the 
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Defendant to prove that the amount claimed is incorrect. See Auffenberg v. Bd. Of 

Trustees of Columbus Reg. Hospital, 646 N.E.2d 328 (Ind. Ct. App. 1995). 

35. The Court finds Klein’s testimony credible, supported by the evidence in this 

adversary proceeding and unrebutted.  With the additional default interest accrued to 

September 15, 2013, Mr. Klein testified that the outstanding amount due on the Note 

is, in his opinion, $32,958,018.00, consisting of $13,820,325 of interest calculated at 

the default rate of interest from September 1, 2008.  The default rate of interest 

varied from September 1, 2008 to September 30, 2009.  After September 30, 2009, 

the default rate of interest applied by Klein was 10.5% 

36. To the extent Laikin attempted to rebut the validity of certain advances shown on the 

books and records, the Court does not credit his testimony.  Similarly, the Court does 

not find his argument, which lacks any supporting evidence, that repayments should 

have been credited to his account after Brightpoint stock was sold in 2003, credible.  

Indeed, the trial record as a whole supports the conclusion that at least from mid-

2006 on, Laikin used his DCI line of credit in a manner that imposed a willful and 

malicious injury on Fair Finance. 

Conclusion 

The foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law are hereby submitted to the District 

Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(c)(1), Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 9033(a), and 

District Court General Order 2012-7.  Based upon these proposed findings of fact and 

conclusions of law, it is the recommendation of this Court that a judgment in the following 

amounts be entered in favor of the Trustee and against Laikin: 

(a) $32,958,018 plus interest accruing at the default rate of 10.5% as of September 15, 
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2013 until paid in full; and 

(b) attorney’s fees for the Sanctions Order to be determined in a separate proceeding, 

following entry of judgment, as the parties agreed and the Court ordered at the final pre-trial 

conference. 

Pursuant to the District Court’s related case rule, other Fair Finance adversary 

proceedings have been assigned to Judge Patricia Gaughan.  It is the opinion of this judicial 

officer that the related case rule would extend to the submission of these proposed findings of 

fact and conclusions of law.  Accordingly, I have asked the Clerk’s Office of the Bankruptcy 

Court to coordinate this submission to Judge Gaughan’s docket. 

 
 

# # # 
 
 
 

cc (via electronic mail): 
BRAEDEN DOUTHETT, Counsel to Plaintiff 
MARK PHILLIPS, Counsel to Defendant 
LORI WELKER, Counsel to Defendant 
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